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Approval of Annual Financial Statements 

 

The annual financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2016 (01/01-31/12/2016) were approved 
by the Board of Directors on August 30, 2017. 

 

The Chairman of the Board of 
Directors and Managing 

Director 

The Vice-Chairman of the Board 
of Directors  

The Accounting Manager 

   

   

   

Anastasiou Ioannis     Anastasiou Efthymios Melissari Aikaterini 

I.D. Number ΑΒ 249702    I.D. Number ΑΒ 345070 I.D. Number ΑΚ 758698 
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Annual Report of the Board of Directors 

 

The Board of Directors of Frezyderm S.A. (“the Company”) presents its Report on the Annual Financial 

Statements (consolidated and separate) for the year ended December 31, 2016. The Group Frezyderm (the 

«Group»), apart from the Company, includes the subsidiary company Frezyderm UK Ltd, over which 

Frezyderm has direct control. 

The consolidated and separate financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International 

Financial Reporting Standards (I.F.R.S.), as adopted by the European Union. 

 

(A) 2016 Financial Review 

Given the fact that the parent Company's financial figures do not differ significantly from the respective 

financial figures of the Group, as sales and total assets represent 100% of total (the subsidiary company has 

not developed its commercial activity to a significant extent), presented below are the Group's financial 

information. 

The Group’s revenue increased by 19,72% in 2016 compared to 2015 and reached the amount of Euro 

39.819.558,7 compared to Euro 33.261.828,79 of the previous year.  

The increase of revenue is due to the distribution of new products and the increase of sales of existing 

products via the Company’s commercial policy. The turnover of the subsidiary company Frezyderm UK Ltd 

amounted to GBP 37.998,55 in 2016.  

The Group’s operating expenses reached the amount of Euro 18.745.969,47 and reflect an increase of 

18,18% compared to the prior year. This increase is mainly due to the costs related to the increased sales 

and the increased marketing expenses of the subsidiary company. Respectively, operating expenses before 

depreciation reached the amount of Euro 18.511.037,09 compared to Euro 15.664.574,09 of the previous 

year, reflecting an increase of 18,17%. 

The Group’s earnings before interest and tax (ΕΒΙΤ) for 2016 reached the amount of Euro 5.671.958,53  

compared to Euro 5.543.283,29 in 2015, reflecting an increase of 2,32%. Respectively, the Company’s 

earnings before interest and tax (ΕΒΙΤ) for 2016 reached the amount of Euro 6.386.268,67 compared to Euro 

5.574.000,20 of the previous year, reflecting an increase of 14,57%. 

The Group’s earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) for 2016 reached the 

amount of Euro 5.906.890,91 compared to Euro 5.741.275,19 in 2015, reflecting an increase of 2,88%.  

In relation to the Group’s and Company’s financial activities, interest and related expenses in 2016 

amounted to Euro 294.092,84, reflecting a decrease of 41% compared to 2015. 

The income tax expense of the Group amounted to Euro 1.984.418,08  in 2016 compared to Euro 

1.570.842,32 in 2015, mainly due to the increase, of the parent company’s profit before tax of Euro 

6.170.558,94 in 2016 compared to Euro 5.149.662,40 in 2015.  

Considering all the above, the Group’s profit for the year 2016 was Euro 3.409.790,75 compared to Euro 

3.546.175,00  of the prior year, reflecting a decrease of 3,8%. 

The Group’s profit attributable to the owners of the parent Company for the year 2016 amounted to Euro 

3.471.262,02 compared to Euro 3.548.103,77 of the prior year. 

The Group’s cash flows from operating activities in 2016 increased by 10,59% in comparison with the prior 

year and amounted to Euro 5.136.615,48 compared to 4.644.860,84 in 2015. This increase is mainly due to 

the positive change in working capital and the increased profitability. 

The Group’s total debt as of December 31, 2016 was Euro 2.263.116,01 compared to Euro 3.835.165,3 at 

December 31, 2015, reflecting a decrease of 41%. 

As of December 31, 2016, the Group’s net current liabilities amounted to Euro 15.093.818,56 compared to 

net current assets of Euro 16.106.871,77. 
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Financial ratios 

The Group's basic financial ratios for the years 2016 and 2015 are as follows:  

 

Current ratio 31.12.2016  31.12.2015  

Current assets  16.106.871,77 
1,07 

10.528.946,23 
0,86 

Current liabilities 15.093.818,56 12.270.102,64 

 

Gross profit margin ratio 31.12.2016  31.12.2015  

Gross profit 24.112.270,91 
0,61 

21.503.250,84 
0,65 

Net sales 39.819.558,70 33.261.828,79 

 
Return on Assets 31.12.2016  31.12.2015  

Net profit 3.471.262,02 
0,17 

3.548.103,77 
0,23 

Total assets 20.423.702,22 15.506.236,91 

 

Return on equity 31.12.2016  31.12.2015  

Net profit  3.471.262,02 
1,17 

3.548.103,77 
4,79 

Total equity 2.973.930,45 740.609,68 

 

Assets to equity ratio 31.12.2016  31.12.2015  

Total assets 20.423.702,22 
6,87 

15.506.236,91 
20,94 

Total equity 2.973.930,45 740.609,68 

 

Debt to equity ratio 31.12.2016  31.12.2015  

Total debt  2.263.116,01 
0,76 

3.835.165,30 
5,18 

Total equity 2.973.930,45 740.609,68 

 

Current assets to total liabilities ratio  31.12.2016  31.12.2015  

Current assets 16.106.871,77 
0,92 

10.528.946,23 
0,68 

Total liabilities 17.449.771,77 15.506.236,91 

 

 

(B) Significant events of the current year 

-Share capital increase of the subsidiary company Frezyderm UK Ltd 

During the current year, the subsidiary company FREZYDERM UK LTD increased its share capital by a) GBP 

400.000 where the parent company participated and fully covered the share capital increase by payment in 

cash and by b) GBP 250.000, which was satisfied by the capitalization of equal intercompany balances.  

- Dividend distribution 

By resolution of the Shareholders General Meeting, dividends of Euro 1.176.470,00 were distributed to the 

company’s shareholders.  
 
 
(C) Objectives for 2017 

Management’s objective is to solidify Frezyderm as a leading, modern and dynamic company, and based on 

its qualitative superiority to provide excellent products and to continue to hold a leading position in the 

market. 

More specifically, the Group aims to: 

 Safeguard its leading position in the market by gaining additional market share 

 Increase the value of the shareholders 

 Deliver high quality products to consumers 
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For 2017, the Group aims not only to achieve the annual business targets but also to enable the long term 

evolution of the Company. Special emphasis will be placed on distributing new products in Greece and the 

openings of new international markets. 

 

(D) Risks and Uncertainties for the Next Year 

The Group’s activities expose it to financial risk, market risk (including currency risk, price risk and interest 

rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s risk management policy focuses on the unpredictability 

of the collection of trade receivables and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s liquidity 

and financial performance. The Group and the Company do not use derivative financial instruments. 

Macroeconomic conditions in Greece 

The macroeconomic and financial environment in Greece is showing signs of stability, however uncertainties 

continue to exist. The capital controls initially imposed in June 2015 continue to be in force but have been 

eased over time. The Group was initially affected as it experienced delays in the receipt of customers’ 

payments and difficulties in its transactions abroad. 

The Group’s operations in Greece continue without any disruption, however the continued instability and 

volatility of the macroeconomic and financial environment in Greece could however have an impact on the 

Group’s and the Company’s business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects.  

Assuming that the capital controls are lifted within a relatively short period and the agreed terms and 

conditions of the third bailout program are implemented, no material negative impact on the Group’s 

operations in Greece is anticipated. In this uncertain economic environment, management continually 

assesses the situation and its possible future impact to ensure that all necessary actions and measures are 

taken in order to minimize any impact on the Group’s operations. 

Management is not able to accurately predict the likely developments in the Greek economy, however 

based on its assessment, management has concluded that no additional impairment provisions are required 

with respect to the Group’s financial and non-financial assets as of December 31 2016. 

Financial Risks  

The below stated risks are significantly affected by the capital controls imposed as well as the 

macroeconomic and financial environment in Greece, as analysed above. 

a) Market risk 

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange and interest rates will result 

in fluctuations of the value of the Group’s financial instruments. The objective of market risk management 

is to manage and control exposure within acceptable levels. 

The individual risks that comprise market risk and the Group’s policies for managing them are described 

below: 

i. Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 

because of changes in the interest rates. The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk is insignificant. The 

Group’s long term-borrowings refer to finance leases with floating rates that expose the Group to cash flow 

interest rate risk which however is considered to be insignificant. 

ii. Foreign currency risk  

Currency risk is the risk that the fair values of the cash flows of a financial instrument fluctuate due to foreign 

currency changes. The Group mainly operates in Europe and consequently its transactions are conducted in 

Euro. 

iii. Price risk 

The purpose of risk management against market conditions is to control the Group’s exposure to those risks, 

within the framework of acceptable parameters while optimizing results. 
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b) Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group and the Company if a counterparty fails to meet its 

contractual obligations. The carrying value of financial assets at each reporting date is the maximum credit 

risk to which the Group is exposed in respect of the relevant assets. 

Defaulted payments of trade receivables could potentially adversely affect the liquidity of the Group and 

the Company. However, due to the large number of customers and the diversification of the customer base, 

there is no concentration of credit risk with respect to these receivables. Furthermore, the company 

cooperates with a specialised insurance company to insure its trade receivables. 

The Group applies specific credit policies under which customers are analysed for creditworthiness in order 

to ensure that sales are made to customers with the appropriate credit profile and the proper reputation. 

Management monitors regularly the chronological classification of outstanding receivables. 

c) Liquidity risk  

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group or the Company will not be able to meet their financial obligations as 

they fall due. Liquidity risk is kept at low levels by ensuring that there is sufficient cash on demand and / or 

credit facilities to meet the financial obligations falling due in the next 12 months. The Group’s cash and 

cash equivalents and current assets as at December 31, 2016 amount to Euro 16.106.871,77 and its bank 

borrowings amount to Euro 2.263.116,01. 

The analysis of the undiscounted contractual payments (including debt principal and interest payments) of 
the financial liabilities of the Group and the Company is presented below: 

 

GROUP Up to 1 year 2 to 5 years Over 5 years  Total 

31/12/2015     
Borrowings (bank 
borrowings & finance lease 
liabilities) 2.571.539,99 1.251.298,37 703.855,33 4.526.693,69 
Trade and other payables 7.813.619,71 - - 7.813.619,71 

31/12/2016     
Borrowings (bank 
borrowings & finance lease 
liabilities) 1.003.498,21 891.213,30 368.404,51 2.263.116,01 
Trade and other payables 12.065.930,94 - - 12.065.930,94 

 

COMPANY Up to 1 year 2 to 5 years Over 5 years  Total 

31/12/2015     
Borrowings (bank 
borrowings & finance lease 
liabilities) 2.571.539,99 1.251.298,37 703.855,33 4.526.693,69 
Trade and other payables 7.808.785,17 - - 7.808.785,17 

31/12/2016     
Borrowings (bank 
borrowings & finance lease 
liabilities) 1.003.498,21 891.213,30 368.404,51 2.263.116,01 
Trade and other payables 11.999.130,61 - - 11.999.130,61 
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Capital management 

The primary objective of the Group’s and the Company’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains 
a strong credit rating and healthy capital ratio in order to support its business plans and maximize 
shareholder value. The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments, in light of changes in 
economic conditions. An important mean of managing capital is the use of the gearing ratio (ratio of net 
debt to equity). Net debt includes interest bearing loans less cash and cash equivalents. 

The gearing ratio at 31 December 2016 and 2015 was established as follows 

 
 GROUP  COMPANY 

 31/12/2016 31/12/2015  31/12/2016 31/12/2015 

Long-term borrowings 1.259.617,80 1.425.486,00  1.259.617,80 1.425.486,00 

Short-term borrowings 1.003.498,21 2.409.679,30  1.003.498,21 2.409.679,30 

Total borrowings 2.263.116,01 3.835.165,30  2.263.116,01 3.835.165,30 

Less: Cash and cash equivalents (3.217.157,77) (1.110.476,81)  (2.686.318,74) (1.036.602,21) 

Net debt (954.041,76) 2.724.688,49  (423.202,73) 2.798.563,09 

      

Equity 2.973.930,45 740.609,68  3.747.196,22 769.413,56 

Gearing ratio -0,32 3,68  -0,11 3,64 

 

 

(Ε) Related Party Transactions 

Related party transactions are presented below:  
 

 GROUP  COMPANY 

 31/12/2016 31/12/2015  31/12/2016 31/12/2015 

Total sales      

Sales of goods 33.337,72 -  33.337,72 - 

Sales of fixed assets -   -  

Sales of services / Other income      

      

Total purchases      

Purchases of goods      

Purchases of fixed assets      
      
Fees to the members of the BoD and key 
management personnel      

Salaries and other short-term benefits  702.885,26 809.633,93  702.885,26 809.633,93 

Other fees and benefits  39.458,54   39.458,54 

      

      

Receivables from related parties 396.044,23   396.044,23 34.482,31 

      

Liabilities to associates 3.000,00   3.000,00  
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(F) Other Information 

 

Company branches 

The company has branches in Thessaloniki on 112 Karamanlis Avenue, and in Metamorfosi on 4 Tatoiou 

Avenue (plant) and 15 Likovriseos (warehouse). 

 

Purchase of own shares  

The company does not hold own shares, and therefore is not obliged to provide the relevant information. 

 

Activities in the field of research and development 

The research and development department was established in the year 2000.  

Given the long year experience and specialisation of its scientific staff, as well as the modern laboratories, 

it is able, on a continuous basis, to develop new, safe and effective products making use of innovated 

cosmetic techniques and scientific developments. Furthermore, the scientific team of Frezyderm, designs, 

creates, implements and legally patents on behalf of third parties (customers) all new forms of cosmetics. 

It is the “headquarters” for the creation and development of new products, where modern scientific systems 

simulate the pilot productions. 

The company reinvests a significant portion of its annual profits to its Research and Development 

department. 

 

Facts and information on environmental and labor issues 

Environmental  

FREZYDERM has developed and maintains a consolidated Quality Assurance system and is certified as per 

the standards below: 

1. ISO 9001:2008 by the certification body LRQA Lloyd’s Registers, for the design, development and 

production of cosmetic products, intravaginal gels, lice treatments and nasal sprays, storage, 

distribution and sale of cosmetic products, medicine and medical information services. 

2. ISO 22716:2007, good manufacturing practices - for the production, storage and distribution of 

cosmetic products.  

3. ISO 22000:2005, food safety management systems – for the distribution of consumer packaged 

goods and milk formulas for infants, children and adults. The organic products are certified by 

authorities of the European Union and DIO (Inspection and Certification Organization of Organic 

Products) 

4. ISO 13485:2012 and resolution 85/1348 for the production and distribution of intravaginal gels and 

cleansers, lice treatment products, nasal sprays and oral care products. 

In addition, another priority of FREZYDERM consists in the prevention of any environmental effects arising 

from its activity and its continuous compliance with the relevant legislations. In this context FREZYDERM 

participates in the Collective Alternative Management System CAMS – RECYCLING. 

FREZYDERM is aware of the need for continuous improvement of its environmental performance on the 

basis of the principles of sustainable development and in compliance with legislation and international 

standards, aims to a balanced economic growth in harmony with the natural environment and to minimize 

the environmental impact from its activities. Taking into account the above principles FREZYDERM carries 

out its activities in a manner that ensures the protection of the environment and the health and safety of 

its employees. 
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Labour 

Health and safety  

Frezyderm constantly seeks to improve its health and safety performance for its employees. The Group’s 
Management regards for the employees’ health and safety and has taken all measures to prevent any 
accidents. In addition the company has a group insurance policy for its personnel (medical representatives) 
due to their exposure in areas that accommodate patients (hospitals, pharmacies, medical practises etc) 
and due to their frequent travelling (within and out of the area of the company). 

Human resources and development 

Frezyderm recognises the fundamental importance of being a responsible employer and building long-term 
relationships with its employees, based on mutual trust, reliability and common values. For this reason 
Frezyderm aims to promote lifelong learning among its people and enhance their professional skills and 
competencies. The training hours for the Group amounted to 100 hours per employee. Frezyderm as an 
employer respects and defends the diversity of its employees (age, gender, nationality etc.) and ensures 
top-quality working conditions and opportunities for advancement based on merit and on equal treatment, 
free of discrimination. Frezyderm defends human rights, recognises the right to union membership and to 
collective bargaining. 

 

Dividends 

The Board of Directors proposes at the annual Ordinary General Meeting of Shareholders the approval of 
dividend distribution of up to € 1.460.000. 

 

Events after the reporting date  

In 2017 the subsidiary company FREZYDERM UK LTD increased its share capital by the amount of GBP 
380.000 which was satisfied by the capitalization of equal intercompany balances. 

By virtue of the resolution of the Shareholders Extraordinary Meeting dated 16/1/2017, the Company 
proceeded with the acquisition of property on 73-75 Menandrou Str. for a consideration of € 155.000. 

 

Dear Shareholders after taking into consideration the above please proceed to: 
1. Approve the Company's financial statements for the 21η financial year (1/1/2016 -31/12/2016). 
2. Approve the Consolidated Financial Statements for financial year 1/1/2016 - 31/12/2016. 
3. Discharge us and the auditors from any responsibility that relates to the financial statements of the 

financial year (1/1/2016 – 31/12/2016) according to the law as well as the articles of association. 
4. Approve the remuneration of the members of the Board of Directors paid during the financial 

period 1/1/2016 – 31/12/2016, approve in advance the remuneration of the members of the Board 
of Directors for the financial year (1/1/2017 – 31/12/2017). 

5. Appoint one (1) regular and one (1) deputy certified auditor for the financial year 2017. 

 

 

Athens, 30 August 2017 

 
The Chairman of the Board of Directors  
 
 
 
 
 
Anastasiou Ioannis 
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[Translation from the original text in Greek] 
 
 
 

Independent Auditor’s Report 

To the Shareholders of «FREZYDERM SA» 
 
Report on the Audit of the Separate and Consolidate d Financial Statements  
We have audited the accompanying separate and consolidated financial statements of “FREZYDERM SA” 
which comprise the separate and consolidated statement of financial position as of 31 December 2016, the 
separate and consolidated statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and cash 
flow statement for the year then ended and a summary of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory information.  
 

Management’s Responsibility for the Separate and Consolidated Financial Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these separate and consolidated 
financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, as adopted by the 
European Union, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of separate and consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.  
 

Auditor’s Responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these separate and consolidated financial statements based 
on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing which have 
been transposed in to Greek Law (GG/B’/2848/23.10.2012). Those standards require that we comply with 
ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
separate and consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.  
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
separate and consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's 
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the separate and consolidated 
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers 
internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the separate and consolidated 
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not 
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also 
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the separate and 
consolidated financial statements.  

 

http://www.tms-auditors.gr/
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We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained  is sufficient and appropriate to provide a  
basis for our audit opinion. 

Basis for Qualified Opinion 

Based on our audit we note that the parent Company’s tax returns for the year 2010 have not been audited 
by the tax authorities. Hence, the Company’s tax liabilities for this tax year have not been finalized. The 
Company has not assessed the additional taxes and penalties that might be imposed by the tax authorities 
upon a future tax audit and thus no provision has been made with regard to this matter. From our audit it 
was not possible to obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence in relation with the provision which 
may be required. 

Qualified Opinion 

In our opinion, except for the effects of the matter referred to in the preceding paragraph 'Basis for Qualified 
Opinion', the aforementioned financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the Company “FREZYDERM SA” and its subsidiary as of December 31, 2016, and their financial 
performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards, as adopted by the European Union. 

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements 

Taking into consideration, that management is responsible for the preparation of the Board of Directors’ 
report according to the provisions of paragraph 5 article 2 of Law 4336/2015 (part B), we note the following:   

a) In our opinion, the Board of Directors’ report has been prepared in accordance with the legal 
requirements of articles 43a and 107a of the Codified Law 2190/1920 and the content of the Board of 
Directors’ report is consistent with the accompanying financial statements for the year ended 31/12/2016. 

b) Based on the knowledge we obtained from our audit for the Company “FREZYDERM SA” and its 
environment, we have not identified any material misstatement to the Board of Directors report.  

 
 

                                                                                                         Athens, 30 August 2017 

 
TMS Auditors S.A. 

91 Michalakopoulou Str., 115 28 Athens  
SOEL Reg.Number 166 

 
Independent member of IAPA International 

 

 
The Certified Auditor Accountant 

 
 
 

Niki Karachristou 
SOEL Reg. No 31011 
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Statement of Financial Position 

 
  GROUP  COMPANY 

  31/12/2016  31/12/2015  31/12/2016  31/12/2015 

ASSETS         

Non-current assets Note        

Property, plant and equipment 

Error! 
Reference 

source 
not 

found. 2.665.769,56  2.714.012,00 

 

2.665.769,56 

 

2.714.012,00  

Intangible assets 

Error! 
Reference 

source 
not 

found. 554.122,00  591.422,33 

 

554.122,00 

 

591.422,33  

Investment in subsidiaries 

Error! 
Reference 

source 
not 

found. -  - 

 

879.042,52 

 

68.167,72 

Investment property 

Error! 
Reference 

source 
not 

found. 599.400,00  632.515,50 

 

599.400,00 

 

632.515,50 

Other non-current receivables 

Error! 
Reference 

source 
not 

found. 67.603,65  88.140,55 

 

67.603,65 

 

88.140,55 

Deferred tax assets 5.19 429.935,24  951.200,30  429.935,24  951.200,30 

  4.316.830,45  4.977.290,68  5.195.872,97  5.045.458,40 

Current assets         

Inventories 

Error! 
Reference 

source 
not 

found. 8.200.004,34  5.300.159,08 

 

8.200.004,34 

 

5.300.159,08 

Trade and other receivables 

Error! 
Reference 

source 
not 

found. 4.689.709,66  4.118.310,34 

 

5.047.971,61 

 

4.147.986,56 

Cash and cash equivalents 5.8 3.217.157,77  1.110.476,81  2.686.318,74  1.036.602,21 

  16.106.871,77  10.528.946,23  15.934.294,69  10.484.747,85 

         

Total Assets  20.423.702,22  15.506.236,91  21.130.167,66  15.530.206,25 

         

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES         

Equity         

Share capital 

Error! 
Reference 

source 
not 

found. 1.124.000,00  1.124.000,00 

 

1.124.000,00 

 

1.124.000,00 

Reserves 
Error! 

Reference 
source 478.977,54   368.424,90 

 

506.648,16 

 

366.512,47 
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not 
found. 

Retained earnings  1.370.952,91   (751.815,22)   2.116.548,06  (721.098,91) 

Total equity  2.973.930,45   740.609,68  3.747.196,22  769.413,56 

         

Non-current liabilities         

Long-term borrowings 

Error! 
Reference 

source 
not 

found. 1.259.617,80  1.425.486,00 

 

1.259.617,80 

 

1.425.486,00 

Deferred revenue 

Error! 
Reference 

source 
not 

found. 406.901,86  484.406,97 

 

406.901,86 

 

484.406,97 

Retirement benefit obligations 5.13 689.433,55  585.631,62  689.433,55  585.631,62 

  2.355.953,21  2.495.524,59  2.355.953,21  2.495.524,59 

Current liabilities         

Trade and other accounts payable  

Error! 
Reference 

source 
not 

found. 12.065.930,94  7.813.619,71 

 

11.999.130,61 

 

7.808.785,17 

Tax liabilities  

Error! 
Reference 

source 
not 

found. 2.024.389,41  2.046.803,63 

 

2.024.389,41 

 

2.046.803,63 

Short-term borrowings 

Error! 
Reference 

source 
not 

found. 1.003.498,21  2.409.679,30 

 

1.003.498,21 

 

2.409.679,30 

  15.093.818,56  12.270.102,64  15.027.018,23  12.265.268,10 

Total liabilities  17.449.771,77  14.765.627,23  17.382.971,44  14.760.792,69 

         

Total Equity and Liabilities  20.423.702,22  15.506.236,91  21.130.167,66  15.530.206,25 

 
The accompanying Notes on pages 16 to 51 form an integral part of these financial statements.  
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Statement of Comprehensive Income 

  GROUP  COMPANY 

 Σημείωση 31/12/2016  31/12/2015  31/12/2016  31/12/2015 

         

Sales 

Error! 
Reference 

source 
not 

found. 39.819.558,70   33.261.828,79   39.806.527,32   33.261.828,79  

Cost of sales 

Error! 
Reference 

source 
not 

found. (15.707.287,79)   (11.758.577,95)   (15.703.315,69)   (11.758.577,95)  

Gross profit   24.112.270,91   21.503.250,84   24.103.211,63   21.503.250,84  

         

Administrative expenses 

Error! 
Reference 

source 
not 

found. (3.101.964,78)   (2.297.059,58)   (2.410.643,60)   (2.266.343,27)  

Selling expenses 

Error! 
Reference 

source 
not 

found. (15.433.669,95)   (13.341.777,80)   (15.433.669,95)   (13.341.777,80)  

Research & development expenses 

Error! 
Reference 

source 
not 

found. (210.334,74)   (223.728,01)   (210.334,74)   (223.728,01)  

Other income / (expenses) 

Error! 
Reference 

source 
not 

found. 305.657,09  (97.401,56)  337.705,33  (97.401,56) 

Profit before tax, financial and 
investment activities  5.671.958,53  5.543.283,89   6.386.268,67  5.574.000,20  

Finance income / expenses, net 

Error! 
Reference 

source 
not 

found. (216.278,43)   (424.337,80)   (215.709,73)  (424.337,80)  

Profit before taxes  5.455.680,10   5.118.946,09   6.170.558,94  5.149.662,40  

Income tax 5.19 (1.984.418,08)   (1.570.842,32)   (1.984.418,08)  (1.570.842,32)  

Profit after taxes  3.471.262,02   3.548.103,77   4.186.140,86  3.578.820,08  

         

Other comprehensive income         
Items to be reclassified to profit or 
loss in subsequent periods:         
Exchange gains on translation of 
foreign operations  (29.583,05)  1.912,43  -  - 
Total comprehensive income to 
be reclassified to profit or loss in 
subsequent periods after tax  (29.583,05)  1.912,43  -  - 

         
Items not to be reclassified to profit 
or loss in subsequent periods:         

Actuarial gains / losses  (54.669,49)  (5.650,00)  (54.669,49)  (5.650,00) 
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Re-measurement of property at fair 
values   9.756,75    9.756,75   

Deferred tax  13.024,54  657,22  13.024,54  657,22 
Total comprehensive income not 
to be reclassified to profit or 
loss in subsequent periods after 
tax  (31.888,20)  (4.992,78)  (31.888,20)  (4.992,78) 

Other comprehensive income for 
the year net of tax  (61.471,25)  (3.080,35)  (31.888,20)  (4.992,78) 
Total comprehensive income for 
the year net of tax  3.409.790,77  3.545.023,42  4.154.252,66  3.573.827,30 

         
Total profit for the year is 
attributable to:          

Owners of the parent  3.471.262,02  3.548.103,77  4.186.140,86  3.578.820,08 

Non-controlling interests  -  -  -  - 

         
Total comprehensive income for 
the year is attributable to:         

Owners of the parent  3.409.790,77  3.545.023,42  4.154.252,66  3.573.827,30 

Non-controlling interests  -  -  -  - 

         
Basic earnings per share after tax 
(in euro) 5.20 173,5631  177,4052  209,3070  178,9410 

The accompanying Notes on pages 16 to 51 form an integral part of these financial statements 
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Statement of Changes in Equity 

 

GROUP 

Share capital 
Statutory 
reserve 

Fair value 
revaluation 

reserve 

Foreign exchange 
reserve 

Other reserves Retained earnings Total equity 

Balance at 01-01-2015 1.031.000,00 234.239,65 28.405,68 - 92.729,28 (3.028.482,37) (1.642.107,76) 

Total comprehensive income for the year        
- Net profit for the year      3.548.103,77 3.548.103,77 

Other comprehensive income / (loss)        

- Actuarial gains / losses after tax      (3.841,20) (3.841,20) 

- Effect of change in tax rate on deferred tax   (1.151,58)    (1.151,58) 

- Exchange gains on translation of foreign operations    1.912,43   1.912,43 

Total comprehensive income for the year   (1.151,58) 1.912,43  3.544.262,57 3.545.023,42 

Statutory reserve  105.018,72    (105.018,72) - 

Dividends      (1.162.576,70) (1.162.576,70) 

Share capital increase 93.000,00    (92.729,28)  270,72 

Balance at 31-12-2015 1.124.000,00 339.258,37 27.254,10 1.912,43 - (751.815,22) 740.609,68 

        

Balance at 01-01-2016 1.124.000,00 339.258,37 27.254,10 1.912,43 - (751.815,22) 740.609,68 

Total comprehensive income for the year        

- Net profit for the year      3.471.262,02 3.471.262,02 

Other comprehensive income / (loss)        

- Actuarial gains / losses after tax      (38.815,49) (38.815,49) 

- Readjustment at fair values of PPE after tax   6.927,29    6.927,29 

- Effect of change in tax rate on deferred tax    (29.583,05)   (29.583,05) 

Total comprehensive income for the year   6.927,29 (29.583,05)  3.432.446,53 3.409.790,77 

Statutory reserve  133.208,40    (133.208,40) - 

Dividends      (1.176.470,00) (1.176.470,00) 

Balance at 31-12-2016 1.124.000,00 472.466,77 34.181,39 (27.670,62) - 1.370.952,91 2.973.930,45 

        
 
The accompanying Notes on pages 16 to 51 form an integral part of these financial statements   
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COMPANY 

Share capital 
Statutory 
reserve 

Fair value 
revaluation 

reserve 
Other reserves Retained earnings Total equity 

Balance at 01-01-2015 1.031.000,00 234.239,65 28.405,68 92.729,28 (3.028.482,37) (1.642.107,76) 

Total comprehensive income for the year       
- Net profit for the year     3.578.820,08 3.578.820,08 

Other comprehensive income / (loss)       

- Actuarial gains / losses after tax     (3.841,20) (3.841,20) 

- Effect of change in tax rate on deferred tax   (1.151,58)   (1.151,58) 

Total comprehensive income for the year   (1.151,58)  3.574.978,88 3.573.827,30 

Statutory reserve  105.018,72   (105.018,72) - 

Dividends     (1.162.576,70) (1.162.576,70) 

Share capital increase 93.000,00   (92.729,28)  270,72 

Balance at 31-12-2015 1.124.000,00 339.258,37 27.254,10 - (721.098,91) 769.413,56 

       

Balance at 01-01-2016 1.124.000,00 339.258,37 27.254,10 - (721.098,91) 769.413,56 

Total comprehensive income for the year       

- Net profit for the year     4.186.140,86 4.186.140,86 

Other comprehensive income / (loss)       

- Actuarial gains / losses after tax     (38.815,49) (38.815,49) 

- Revaluation of property at fair values after tax   6.927,29   6.927,29 

Total comprehensive income for the year   6.927,29  4.147.325,37 4.154.252,66 

Statutory reserve  133.208,40   (133.208,40) - 

Dividends     (1.176.470,00) (1.176.470,00) 

Balance at 31-12-2016 1.124.000,00 472.466,77 34.181,39  2.116.548,06 3.747.196,22 

       
 
The accompanying Notes on pages 16 to 51 form an integral part of these financial statements 
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Cash Flow Statement 

 GROUP  COMPANY 

 01/01/2016 
31/12/2016 

 01/01/2015 
31/12/2015 

 01/01/2016 
31/12/2016 

 01/01/2015 
31/12/2015 

Cash flows from operating activities        

Profit / (loss) before tax 5.455.680,10  5.118.946,09  6.170.558,94  5.149.662,40 

Adjustments for:        

Provisions 121.945,14  53.837,57  121.945,14  53.837,57 
Depreciation 234.932,38  197.991,30  234.932,38  197.991,30 

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets 19.931,20  0,74  19.931,20  0,74 
Impairment of tangible and intangible assets 97.469,20  79.248,20  97.777,14  79.248,20 
Impairment of tangible and intangible assets 152.347,84  345.089,60  151.471,20  345.089,60 
Plus / (less) adjustments for working capital:        

Decrease / (increase) in inventories (3.014.455,86)  ( 1.639.508,20)  ( 3.014.455,86)  ( 1.639.508,20) 

Decrease / (increase) in receivables ( 1.348.929,01)  4.250.489,82  ( 849.362,89)  4.220.813,60 

((Decrease) / increase in liabilities (except borrowings) 5.102.874,25  ( 1.210.249,29)  4.190.345,44  ( 1.215.083,83) 

(Less):        

Interest and related expenses paid ( 212.637,06)  ( 488.398,78)  ( 211.760,42)  (488.398,78) 

Taxes paid ( 1.472.542,70)  ( 2.062.586,21)  ( 1.472.542,70)  (2.062.586,21) 

Net cash flows from operating activities (a) 5.136.615,48  4.644.860,84  5.438.839,57  4.641.066,39 

        

Cash flows from investing activities        
Acquisition of subsidiaries, affiliates, joint ventures and 
other investments     ( 810.874,80)  (68.167,72) 

Purchase of tangible & intangible assets ( 163.066,45)  ( 213.515,86)  ( 163.066,45)  (213.515,86) 

Proceeds from the sale of tangible & intangible assets 3.079,03    3.079,03  - 

Interest received 309,30  3,87  1,36  3,87 

Net cash flows used in investing activities (b) ( 159.678,12)  ( 213.511,99)  ( 970.860,86)  (281.679,71) 

        

Cash flows from financing activities        

Proceeds from share capital increase -  270,72  -  270,72 

Proceeds from loans granted / issued 3.750.234,83  13.695.735,21  3.750.234,83  13.695.735,21 

Repayment of loans ( 5.241.063,09)  ( 16.024.763,00)  ( 5.241.063,09)  (16.024.763,00) 

Settlements of liabilities from principles of leasing ( 150.963,92)  ( 135.416,76)  ( 150.963,92)  (135.416,76) 

Dividends paid ( 1.176.470,00)  ( 1.162.576,70)  ( 1.176.470,00)  (1.162.576,70) 

Net cash flows used in financing activities (c) ( 2.818.262,18)  ( 3.626.750,53)  ( 2.818.262,18)  (3.626.750,53) 

        

Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 
(a) + (b) + (c ) 2.158.675,18  804.598,32  1.649.716,53  732.636,15 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the 
year 1.110.476,81  303.966,06  1.036.602,21  303.966,06 

Net foreign exchange differences ( 51.994,22)  1.912,43  -  - 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 3.217.157,77  1.110.476,81  2.686.318,74  1.036.602,21 

 

The accompanying Notes on pages 16 to 51 form an integral part of these financial statements 
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Notes to the financial statements as of December 31 2016 

 

1. General information 

FREZYDERM S.A. was established in 1986 with the main objective to design, produce and market 
dermatological products, introduce such products to dermatologists while keeping them updated, and 
promote products via the pharmaceutical distribution channel. The company aims to design and 
manufacture safe and effective, high quality, products that conform to strict pharmaceutical standards 
that will become a dermatologists' reliable partner. 

The company deals with the production, distribution and wholesale of cosmetics, pharmaceutical 
products and wholesale of child food products. 

The Company has its registered office in Greece, in the municipality of Athens of the prefecture of 
Attica, at 75 Menadrou str, and the production takes place at the privately owned plant at 4 Tatoiou, 
Metamorphosi, Athens. The production process is ISO certified and the Company has been awarded for 
the high quality of its products and sales excellence. In 2013 Fortune Greece ranked the Company 13th 
in the list of the 20 fastest growing companies in Greece, and in 2016 received the title of Superbrand 
in the personal care category from the institution of Superbrands. 

The Company’s website is https://www.frezyderm.com 

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of Frezyderm SA and its 
subsidiary Frezyderm UK Ltd, over which the company has direct control holding 100% of its share 
capital. 
The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on August 30 2017. 
 

2. Summary of significant accounting policies 

The main accounting principles adopted for the preparation of these financial statements are presented 
below. These principles have been applied with consistency in all reported periods presented. 

 

2.1 Basis of preparation 
These financial statements comprise the separate financial statement of the Company and the 
consolidated financial statements of the Group. The financial statements have been prepared in 
accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), including the International 
Standards (IAS) and the Interpretations of the International Financial Reporting Interpretations 
Committee (IFRIC) as adopted by the European Union.   
The annual financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, as amended by the 
adjustment of owner-occupied property and investment property at fair values and under the principle 
of going concern.  

The preparation of financial statements according to IFRS requires the use of certain important 
accounting estimations and the exercise of judgment on behalf of the Management in the process of 
applying the Group's accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or 
complexity or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements are 
disclosed in Note 3. These estimations are based on Management’s best possible knowledge of current 
conditions and actions but the actual results may differ from these estimations. 

The financial statements are presented in Euro. Any minor differences between amounts presented in 
the tables below result from roundings. 
  

https://www.frezyderm.com/
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New standards, amendments to standards and interpretations 

New standards, amendments and interpretations have been issued, that are mandatory for accounting 
periods starting during or after the current financial year. The Group’s estimations as to the impact and 
application of these new standards, amendments and interpretations is presented below.  

Mandatory standards and interpretations for the current financial year 

IAS 19 (Revised) (Amendment) ''Employee Benefits'' 

The narrow-scope amendment is applied for employee or third party contributions to defined benefit 
plans and simplifies the accounting of contributions that are independent of the number of years of 
employee service, for example, employee contributions that are calculated according to a fixed 
percentage of salary. 

IFRS 11 (Amendment) ''Joint Arrangements''  

This amendment requires an investor to apply the principles of business combination accounting when 
it acquires an interest in a joint operation that constitutes a ‘business’. 

IAS 16 and IAS 38 (Amendments) “Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and 
Amortisation 

This amendment clarifies that the use of revenue based methods to calculate the depreciation of an 
asset is not appropriate and it also clarifies that revenue is generally presumed to be an inappropriate 
basis for measuring the consumption of the economic benefits embodied in an intangible asset. 

IAS 27 (Amendment) “Separate financial statements”  

This amendment allows entities to use the equity method to account for investments in subsidiaries, 
joint ventures and associates in their separate financial statements and clarifies the definition of 
separate financial statements. 

IAS 1 (Amendments) “Disclosure initiative”  

These amendments clarify guidance in IAS 1 on materiality and aggregation, the presentation of sub-
totals, the structure of financial statements and the disclosure of accounting policies.  

IFRS 10, IFRS 12 and IAS 28 (Amendments) “Investment entities: Applying the consolidation 
exception” 

These amendments clarify the application of the consolidation exception for investment entities and 
their subsidiaries. 

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2012 

The amendments set out below describe the key changes to certain IFRSs following the publication of 
the results of the IASB’s 2010-12 cycle of the annual improvements project. 

IFRS 2 “Share-based payment” 

The amendment clarifies the definition of a ‘vesting condition’ and separately defines ‘performance 
condition’ and ‘service condition’. 

IFRS 3 “Business combinations” 

The amendment clarifies that an obligation to pay contingent consideration which meets the definition 
of a financial instrument is classified as a financial liability or as equity, on the basis of the definitions in 
IAS 32 “Financial instruments: Presentation”. It also clarifies that all non-equity contingent 
consideration, both financial and non-financial, is measured at fair value through profit or loss. 
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IFRS 8 “Operating segments” 

The amendment requires disclosure of the judgments made by management in aggregating operating 
segments. 

IFRS 13 “Fair value measurement” 

The amendment clarifies that the standard does not remove the ability to measure short-term 
receivables and payables at invoice amounts in cases where the impact of not discounting is immaterial. 

IAS 16 “Property, plant and equipment” and IAS 38 “Intangible assets”  

Both standards are amended to clarify how the gross carrying amount and the accumulated 
depreciation are treated where an entity uses the revaluation model. 

IAS 24 “Related party disclosures” 

The standard is amended to include, as a related party, an entity that provides key management 
personnel services to the reporting entity or to the parent of the reporting entity. 

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2014 

The amendments set out below describe the key changes to four IFRSs. 

IFRS 5 “Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations” 

The amendment clarifies that, when an asset (or disposal group) is reclassified from ‘held for sale’ to 
‘held for distribution’, or vice versa, this does not constitute a change to a plan of sale or distribution, 
and does not have to be accounted for as such. 

IFRS 7 “Financial instruments: Disclosures” 

The amendment adds specific guidance to help management determine whether the terms of an 
arrangement to service a financial asset which has been transferred constitute continuing involvement 
and clarifies that the additional disclosure required by the amendments to IFRS 7, ‘Disclosure – 
Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities’ is not specifically required for all interim periods, 
unless required by IAS 34. 

IAS 19 “Employee benefits” 

The amendment clarifies that, when determining the discount rate for post-employment benefit 
obligations, it is the currency that the liabilities are denominated in that is important, and not the 
country where they arise. 

IAS 34 “Interim financial reporting” 

The amendment clarifies what is meant by the reference in the standard to ‘information disclosed 
elsewhere in the interim financial report’. 

Standards and Interpretations being mandatory for subsequent periods  

IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” and subsequent amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 (effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018)  

IFRS 9 replaces the guidance in IAS 39 which deals with the classification and measurement of financial 
assets and financial liabilities and it also includes an expected credit losses model that replaces the 
incurred loss impairment model used today. IFRS 9 establishes a more principle-based approach to 
hedge accounting and addresses inconsistencies and weaknesses in the current model in IAS 39.  
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IFRS 15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
1 January 2018) 

IFRS 15 has been issued in May 2014. The objective of the standard is to provide a single, 
comprehensive revenue recognition model for all contracts with customers to improve comparability 
within industries, across industries, and across capital markets. It contains principles that an entity will 
apply to determine the measurement of revenue and timing of when it is recognised. The underlying 
principle is that an entity will recognise revenue to depict the transfer of goods or services to customers 
at an amount that the entity expects to be entitled to in exchange for those goods or services. At this 
stage, the Group is not able to estimate the impact of the new standard on the financial statements 
and it will make more detailed assessments of the impact over the next twelve months. The Group 
plans to adopt the new standard on the required effective date (1.1.2018). 

IFRS 16 “Leases” (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019) 

IFRS 16 has been issued in January 2016 and supersedes IAS 17. The objective of the standard is to 
ensure the lessees and lessors provide relevant information in a manner that faithfully represents those 
transactions. IFRS 16 introduces a single lessee accounting model and requires a lessee to recognise 
assets and liabilities for all leases with a term of more than 12 months, unless the underlying asset is of 
low value. IFRS 16 substantially carries forward the lessor accounting requirements in IAS 17. 
Accordingly, a lessor continues to classify its leases as operating leases or finance leases, and to account 
for those two types of leases differently. The Group is currently investigating the impact of IFRS 16 on 
its financial statements. The standard has not yet been endorsed by the EU. 

IAS 12 (Amendments) “Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses” (effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2017)  

These amendments clarify the accounting for deferred tax assets for unrealised losses on debt 
instruments measured at fair value. The amendments have not yet been endorsed by the EU. 

IAS 7 (Amendments) “Disclosure initiative” (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2017) 

These amendments require entities to provide disclosures that enable users of financial statements to 
evaluate changes in liabilities arising from financing activities. The amendments have not yet been 
endorsed by the EU. 

IFRS 2 (Amendments) “Classification and measurement of Shared-based Payment transactions” 
(effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018) 

The amendment clarifies the measurement basis for cash-settled, share-based payments and the 
accounting for modifications that change an award from cash-settled to equity-settled. It also 
introduces an exception to the principles in IFRS 2 that will require an award to be treated as if it was 
wholly equity-settled, where an employer is obliged to withhold an amount for the employee’s tax 
obligation associated with a share-based payment and pay that amount to the tax authority. The 
amendments have not yet been endorsed by the EU. 

IFRS 4 (Amendments) “Applying IFRS 9 Financial instruments with IFRS 4 Insurance contracts” 
(effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018) 

The amendments introduce two approaches. The amended standard will: a) give all companies that 
issue insurance contracts the option to recognise in other comprehensive income, rather than profit or 
loss, the volatility that could arise when IFRS 9 is applied before the new insurance contracts standard 
is issued; and b) give companies whose activities are predominantly connected with insurance an 
optional temporary exemption from applying IFRS 9 until 2021. The entities that defer the application 
of IFRS 9 will continue to apply the existing financial instruments standard—IAS 39. The amendments 
have not yet been endorsed by the EU. 
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IAS 40 (Amendments) “Transfers of Investment Property” (effective for annual periods beginning on or 
after 1 January 2018) 

The amendments clarified that to transfer to, or from, investment properties there must be a change 
in use. To conclude if a property has changed use there should be an assessment of whether the 
property meets the definition and the change must be supported by evidence. The amendments have 
not yet been endorsed by the EU. 

IFRIC 22 “Foreign currency transactions and advance consideration” (effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2018)  

The interpretation provides guidance on how to determine the date of the transaction when applying 
the standard on foreign currency transactions, IAS 21. The Interpretation applies where an entity either 
pays or receives consideration in advance for foreign currency denominated contracts. The 
interpretation has not yet been endorsed by the EU. 

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2014 (2014 – 2016 Cycle) (effective for annual periods beginning on 
or after 1 January 2017) 

The amendments set out below describe the key changes to two IFRSs. The amendments have not yet 
been endorsed by the EU.  

IFRS 12 “Disclosures of Interests in Other Entities” 

The amendment clarified that the disclosures requirement of IFRS 12 are applicable to interest in 
entities classified as held for sale except for summarised financial information. 

IAS 28 “Investments in associates and Joint ventures” 

The amendments clarified that when venture capital organisations, mutual funds, unit trusts and similar 
entities use the election to measure their investments in associates or joint ventures at fair value 
through profit or loss (FVTPL), this election should be made separately for each associate or joint 
venture at initial recognition. 

 

2.2 Consolidation 

Subsidiaries 

The consolidated financial statements are comprised of the financial statements of the Company and 
its subsidiary controlled by the Company directly. Control exists when the Group is exposed to, or has 
rights to variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns 
through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is 
transferred to the Group and cease to be consolidated from the date on which control ceases.  

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for business combinations. The consideration 
transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities 
incurred to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group. The 
consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent 
consideration arrangement. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities 
assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. 
For each business combination, the acquirer measures the non-controlling interest in the acquiree 
either at fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Acquisition 
costs are expensed as incurred.  

The financial statements of the subsidiary company are prepared as of the same reporting period as 
the parent company, using consistent accounting policies. All intercompany balances, transactions and 
any intercompany profit or loss are eliminated in the consolidated financial statements. An 
intercompany loan to a foreign subsidiary for which settlement is neither planned nor likely to occur in 
the foreseeable future, is considered to be part of the net investment in that foreign operation, and 
any foreign exchange gains and losses arising are recorded in other comprehensive income. 
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Disposal of subsidiaries 
When the group disposes of or ceases to have control or any retained interest in the subsidiary it is re-
measured to its fair value at the date of disposal or when control is lost, with the change in carrying 
amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair value is the initial carrying amount for the purposes of 
subsequently accounting for the retained interest as an associate or financial asset. In addition, any 
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of that subsidiary are 
reclassified to profit or loss. 
 

2.3 Operating segments 

Operating segments are determined based on the Group’s legal structure, as the Group’s chief 
operating decision makers review financial information separately reported by the Company and its 
subsidiary. The reportable segments are determined using the quantitative thresholds required by IFRS 
8. Information for operating segments that do not constitute reportable segments is combined and 
disclosed in the “Other” category. The accounting policies of the segments are the same with those 
followed for the preparation of the financial statements. 

 

2.4 Foreign currency translation 

Functional and presentation currency 

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the 
currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (‘the functional currency’). 
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Euro ("€"), which is the parent company’s 
functional currency and the Group's presentation currency. 

Transactions and balances 

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates (i.e. 
spot rates) prevailing at the dates of the transactions or valuation where items are re-measured. 
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the 
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are recognised in the income statement, except when deferred in other comprehensive 
income as qualifying net investment hedges. When the related investment is disposed of, the 
cumulative amount is reclassified to profit or loss. 

Translation differences on non-monetary financial assets and liabilities, which are valued at fair value 
through profit and loss are included in the income statement. Translation differences on non-monetary 
financial assets, are included in other comprehensive income. 

The financial statements of the subsidiary company are translated into the presentation currency as 
follows: 

 Assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the closing rate at the 
date of the balance sheet. 

 Income and expenses for each statement of profit or loss and statement of comprehensive 
income are translated at average exchange rates (unless this is not a reasonable approximation 
of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income 
and expenses are translated at the dates of the transactions). 

 All exchange differences resulting from the above are recognised in other comprehensive 
income and subsequently included in "foreign currency translation reserve".  

 On the disposal of a foreign operation (partly or fully disposed), the cumulative exchange 
differences relating to that particular foreign operation recognized in the "foreign currency 
translation reserve" within equity, are recognised in the income statement as part of the gain 
or loss on sale. On the partial disposal of a foreign subsidiary, the proportionate share of the 
cumulative amount is re-attributed to the non-controlling interest in that operation. 
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2.5 Goodwill 
Goodwill arises on the acquisition of subsidiaries and represents the excess of the aggregate of the 
consideration transferred, the amount recognized for non-controlling interests and the acquisition 
date fair value of any previous equity interest held over the fair value of the identifiable net assets 
acquired. If this consideration is lower than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, 
the difference is recognized in the income statement. 

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For the 
purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition 
date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the 
combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those 
units. Each unit or group of units to which the goodwill is allocated represents the lowest level within 
the entity at which the goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes. 

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken annually or more frequently if events or changes in 
circumstances indicate a potential impairment. The carrying value of goodwill is compared to the 
recoverable amount, which is the higher of value in use and the fair value less costs of disposal. Any 
impairment is recognized immediately as an expense and cannot be subsequently reversed. 

 

2.6 Property, Plant and Equipment 

Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at historical cost. Following they are measured 
as follows:  

(a) Owner-occupied properties are measured at fair values. They are revalued by independent valuers 
every three to five year or earlier when there are significant changes in their carrying amounts.  

Revaluation differences (surplus) are recognised within equity. A decrease of the assets carrying 
amount arising from a revaluation is recognised in profit or loss to the extent that it exceeds the balance 
of the revaluation surplus reserve within equity. Depreciation is charged on the revalued amounts. 

(b) Other own-occupied assets are measured at cost less subsequent depreciation and impairment.  

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal. The difference between the 
asset’s carrying amount and sale proceeds is recognised as gain or loss and is included in profit or loss. 
Upon disposal any revaluation reserve relating to the particular asset is transferred to retained 
earnings. 

Land is not depreciated. Depreciation on other assets is calculated using the straight-line method over 
their estimated useful lives, as follows: 

 

Buildings  30 to 50 years 

Machinery up to 10 years 

Furniture, fittings and equipment 5 to 10 years 

Vehicles 6 to 20 years 

 

2.7 Intangible assets 

Intangible assets consist of internally generated intangibles, licenses, software and trademarks. 

The cost of an internally generated intangible asset comprises all directly attributable costs necessary 
to create, produce, and prepare the asset to be capable of operating in the manner intended by 
management. Subsequent expenditure after completion of an internally generated intangible is 
recognised in the assets carrying amount. At each balance sheet date Management assesses the 
probability of expected future economic benefits using reasonable and supportable assumptions that 
represent management’s best estimate of the set of economic conditions that will exist over the useful 
life of the asset. Intangibles of this category are reviewed for impairment at each balance sheet date. 
Internally generated intangibles are depreciated according to the straight line method from 5 to 10 
years.  
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The licences recognised as intangible assets refer to licences for the production and exclusive 
distribution of products which have been obtained during the development phase of the products. At 
each balance sheet date prior to the authorisation of the products by the regulatory authorities, the 
licences are subject to re-evaluation for impairment, according to management's judgements regarding 
the probability of their approval. Licences are depreciated with the straight line method, from the date 
they become available for use and throughout their useful life and are reviewed for impairment at each 
balance sheet date. 

The value of software programmes include the acquisition cost as well as any expenditure realised to 
consist the assets to be capable of operating reduced by the amount of accumulated depreciation and 
any possible impairment losses. Significant subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it 
increases the software’s performance beyond the initial specifications. Software programs are 
depreciated according to the straight line method from 1 to 3 years. 

Trademarks are not depreciated as they are considered to have indefinite useful lives, but are subject 
to annual review for impairment or more frequently should indications of impairment arise. The 
depreciation charge for all the above is included in the statement of comprehensive income. 

 

2.8 Investment property 

Property that is held for long-term rental yields, or for capital appreciation, or for both is categorised 
as investment property. Investment property comprises freehold land, freehold buildings and buildings 
under finance lease. Investment property is measured initially at cost, including related transaction 
costs. 

After initial recognition investment property is carried at fair value. Fair value is based on active market 
prices, adjusted if necessary, for any difference in the nature, location or conditions of the specific 
asset. If this information is not available, the Company applies alternative valuation methods such as 
recent prices on less active markets or discounted cash flows. These valuations are reviewed annually 
by independent valuers according with the instructions issued by the International Valuation Standards 
Committee. The fair value of investment property reflects, among others, rental income from current 
leases, income from concession arrangements and assumptions about rental income from future leases 
in the light of current market conditions. 

The fair value also reflects, on a similar basis, any cash outflows that could be expected in respect of 
the property. Some of those outflows are recognised as a liability, though others including contingent 
rent payments, are not recognised in the financial statements. 

Subsequent expenditure is charged to the asset’s carrying amount only when it is probable that future 
economic benefits associated with the expenditure will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can 
be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance costs are expensed when incurred. 

Changes in fair values are recognised in the income statement. Investment properties are derecognised 
when they have been disposed or its use has been terminated and no cash flow is expected from its 
disposal. If an investment property becomes owner-occupied, it is reclassified as property, plant and 
equipment, and its fair value at the date of reclassification becomes its cost for subsequent accounting 
purposes. 

If an owner-occupied property becomes an investment property because its use has changed, any 
difference resulting between the carrying amount and the fair value of this item at the date of transfer 
is recognised in equity as a revaluation of property, plant and equipment under IAS 16. Any resulting 
increase in the carrying amount of the property is recognised in profit or loss to the extent that it 
reverses a previous impairment loss. Any remaining increase is recognised in other comprehensive 
income and increases the revaluation surplus reserve under equity . Where an investment property 
undergoes a change in use evidenced by commencement of development with a view to sale, the 
property is transferred to non-current assets as available for sale if the criteria of IFRS 5 are met. The 
property’s deemed cost for subsequent accounting is its fair value at the date of change in use. 
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2.9 Non- current assets held for sale 

The Group classifies a non-current asset (or disposal group) as held for sale if its carrying amount will 
be recovered principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use, and a sale is 
considered highly probable. Immediately before the initial classification of a non-current asset (or a 
disposal group) as held for sale, the asset (or the assets and liabilities included in the disposal group) is 
measured in accordance with the applicable IFRS. Non-current assets (or disposal group) classified as 
held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell and 
any possible resulting impairment losses are recognized in the income statement. Any subsequent 
increase in fair value is recognized, but not in excess of the cumulative impairment loss which was 
previously recognized. When a non-current asset (or non-current assets that are included in a disposal 
group) is classified as held for sale, it is not depreciated or amortized. 

 

2.10 Impairment of non - financial assets (excluding goodwill) 

The carrying values of the Group’s and the Company’s non-financial assets are tested for impairment, 
when there are indications that their carrying amount is not recoverable. In such cases, the recoverable 
amount is estimated and if the carrying amount of the asset exceeds its estimated recoverable amount, 
an impairment loss is recognized in the income statement. The recoverable amount of an asset is the 
higher of its fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. In measuring value in use, estimated 
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to that asset. If an asset 
does not generate cash flows individually, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash 
generating unit to which the asset belongs. At each reporting date the Group and the Company assess 
whether there is an indication that an impairment loss recognized in prior periods may no longer exist. 
If any such indication exists, the Group and the Company estimate the recoverable amount of that 
asset and the impairment loss is reversed, increasing the carrying amount of the asset to its recoverable 
amount, to the extent that the recoverable amount does not exceed the carrying value of the asset 
that would have been determined (net of amortization or depreciation) had no impairment loss been 
recognized for the asset in prior years. 

 

2.11 Financial instruments 

Financial assets are initially measured at their fair value, which is normally the acquisition cost, plus, in 
the case of investments not at fair value through profit or loss, directly attributable transaction costs. 
Financial assets are classified as being at fair value through profit or loss, held to maturity, loans and 
receivables or available-for-sale as appropriate.  

The Group and the Company determine classification of their financial assets at initial recognition. 
Financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognised at fair value, and 
transaction costs are expensed in the income statement. Available for sale financial assets and financial 
assets at fair value through profit or loss are subsequently carried at fair value. Loans and receivables 
and held to maturity investments are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method. 
Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of the financial assets carried at fair value through 
profit or loss are recognized in the income statement within “Gains/ losses from investments and 
financial assets”. Changes in the fair value of assets classified as available for sale are recognized in 
other comprehensive income. 

The fair values of quoted investments are based on quoted market bid prices. For investments where 
there is no quoted market price, fair value is determined using valuation techniques, unless the range 
of reasonable fair value estimates is significant and the probabilities of the various estimates cannot be 
reasonably assessed, where the entity is precluded from measuring these investments at fair value. 
Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within a time frame established by 
regulation or convention in the market place are recognized on the settlement date (i.e. the date that 
the asset is transferred or delivered to the Group or the Company). 
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Offsetting of financial assets and liabilities 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is presented in the statement of financial 
position only when the Group or the Company has a legally enforceable right to set off the recognized 
amounts and intends either to settle such asset and liability on a net basis or to realize the asset and 
settle the liability simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must not be contingent on future events 
and must be enforceable in the normal course of business and in the event of default, insolvency or 
bankruptcy of the company or the counterparty. 

Impairment of financial assets 

The Group and the Company assess at each reporting date, whether a financial asset or group of 
financial assets is impaired as follows: 

(i) Assets carried at amortised cost:  

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans and receivables carried at amortized cost 
has been incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying 
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have 
not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective 
interest rate computed at initial recognition). The amount of the loss is recognized in the income 
statement. 

(ii) Available-for-sale financial assets: 

If there is objective evidence that an available-for-sale financial asset is impaired, an amount comprising 
the difference between its acquisition cost (net of any principal payment and amortization) and its 
current fair value, less any impairment loss previously recognized in the income statement is 
transferred from other comprehensive income to the income statement. Reversals of impairment in 
respect of equity instruments classified as available-for-sale are not recognized in the income 
statement. Reversals of impairment losses on debt instruments are reversed through the income 
statement if the increase in fair value of the instrument can be objectively related to an event occurring 
after the impairment losses were recognized in the income statement. 

Derecognition of financial assets 

A financial asset (or, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is 
derecognized when:  

 the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired, 

 the Group or the Company retains the right to receive cash flows from the asset, but has 
assumed an obligation to pay them in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-
through” arrangement, or  

 the Group or the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset and 
either (a) has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the assets, or (b) has neither 
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred 
control of the asset. 

Where the Group or the Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset and has 
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred 
control of the asset, the asset is recognized to the extent of the Group’s or the Company’s continuing 
involvement in the asset. Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the 
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset or the maximum 
amount of consideration that the Company or the Group could be required to repay. 

Where continuing involvement takes the form of a written and/or purchase option (including a cash-
settled option or similar provision) on the transferred asset, the extent of the Group’s or the Company’s 
continuing involvement is the amount of the transferred asset that the Group or the Company may 
repurchase, except that in the case of a written put option (including a cash-settled option or similar 
provision) on an asset measured at fair value, the extent of the Group’s or the Company’s continuing 
involvement is limited to the lower of the fair value of the transferred asset and the option exercise 
price. 
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2.12 Inventories 

The inventories, include merchandise, semi-finalised products, raw materials, package materials and 
spare parts. Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realizable value. The cost is based 
on the weighted average cost method, where the average is calculated at the end of the period. Net 
realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated costs of 
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. When there is any subsequent increase 
of the net realisable value of inventories that have been previously written-down, the amount of the 
write-down is reversed. 

 

2.13 Trade and other receivables 

Trade receivables are initially recognized at their fair value and subsequently measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method, less provision for impairment. An impairment loss is 
recognised when there is an objective indication that the Group or the Company is not in a position to 
collect all the amounts that are due pursuant to relative contractual terms. The amount of the provision 
is the difference between the receivables' carrying amount and the present value of estimated future 
cash flows discounted at the effective interest rate. The amount of the provision is recorded as an 
expense in the income statement. 

 

2.14 Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash, sight deposits, and short-term investments of up to 3 months, 
with high liquidity and low risk. Bank overdrafts are presented in Equity as short-term borrowings. 

 

2.15 Share capital 

Share capital includes the common stock of the Company that has been issued and is in circulation. Any 
excess of the consideration received over the par value of the shares issued is recognized as “share 
premium” in shareholders’ equity. Costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown in 
equity as a deduction of the “share premium” reserve. 

 

2.16 Trade and other payables 

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired from suppliers. 
Accounts payable are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less (or longer 
if this periods consists the normal operating cycle of the business). If not, then they are presented as 
non-current liabilities. Trade payables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured 
at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

 

2.17 Bank borrowings 

Borrowings are initially recorded at cost which reflects their fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. 
Borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method. Any 
difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised in 
the income statement over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method. 
Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group or the Company have the right to defer 
the settlement of the obligation for at least 12 months from the balance sheet date.  

 
  



FREZYDERM S.A. 

(amounts in euro unless stated otherwise) 

 

29 

 

 

2.18 Leases 

A lease that transfers substantially all of the rewards and risks incidental to ownership of the leased 
item is accounted for by the lessee as the acquisition of an asset and the incurrence of a liability, and 
by the lessor as a sale and/or provision of financing. 

Accounting by lessee 

Lease payments are apportioned between finance charges (interest) that are charged to the income 
statement and a reduction of the lease liability. Finance leases are capitalised at the commencement 
of the lease at the lower of the fair value of the leased property or the present value of the minimum 
lease payments reduced by the accumulated depreciation or any impairment losses. If the lease does 
not transfer substantially all of the rewards and risks incidental to ownership of the leased item, it is 
classified as an operating lease by the lessee and the rental payments are recognised as an expense on 
a straight-line basis over the period of the lease. 

Accounting by lessor  

When assets are leased out under an operating lease, the asset is included in the statement of financial 
position based on the nature of the asset. Lease income on operating leases is recognised over the term 
of the lease on a straight-line basis. 

 

2.19 Income tax (current and deferred) 

Income tax for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the income 
statement, except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or 
directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in 
equity, respectively. 

Current income tax is measured on the taxable income for the year using enacted tax rates at the 
reporting date and generates taxable income. Management regularly evaluates the amounts reported 
in tax returns as well as the cases where the applicable tax legislation requires interpretation and, 
where necessary, provisions are made based on the amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities. 

Deferred income tax is provided on all temporary differences arising between the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax bases. 

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences except: 

 where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill of an asset or 
liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, 
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and  

 in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investment in subsidiaries and 
associates, where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled 
and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.  

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, the carry forward of unused 
tax credits and any unused tax losses, to the extent that is probable that taxable profit will be available 
against which the deductible temporary differences and the carry forward of unused tax credits and 
unused tax losses can be utilized except: 

 where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary differences arises from the 
initial recognition of goodwill of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business 
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor 
taxable profit or loss, and 

 in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investment in subsidiaries and 
associates, deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that the 
temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available 
against which the temporary differences can be utilized.  
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Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the year when the asset is 
realized or liability is settled based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted at the reporting date. The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting 
date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be 
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilized. 

 

2.20 Provisions 

Provisions are recognized when the Group or the Company has a present obligation (legal or 
constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic 
benefits will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of 
the obligation. If the effect of the time value of money is material, provisions are measured by 
discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments 
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. Where discounting is used, the increase 
of the provision due to the passage of time is recognized as a borrowing cost.  Provisions are reviewed 
at each reporting date, and if it is no longer probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic 
benefits will be required to settle the obligation, they are reversed. Provisions are used only for 
expenditures for which they were originally recognized. No provisions are recognized for future 
operating losses. Contingent assets and contingent liabilities are not recognized. 

 

2.21 Employ benefits 

Current liabilities 

The current liabilities resulting from employee benefits either in cash or in kind are recognized as 
expense when they are accrued. 

Post-employment benefits 

Post-employment benefits include defined contribution programs and defined benefit programs. A 
defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the Group pays fixed contributions to a 
separate entity. The Group has no legal or constructive obligation to pay further contributions if the 
insurance fund does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefits relating to employee 
service in the current and prior periods. A defined benefit plan is a pension plan that is not a defined 
contribution plan. The Group's obligations resulting from the defined benefit plan are stipulated in the 
Greek Law 4093/2012, which representatively defines the minimum level of pension benefits received 
by employees upon retirement, usually, depending on one or more factors such as age, years of service 
and compensation. The liability in respect of defined benefit pension or retirement plans is the present 
value of the defined benefit obligation. The liability of the defined benefit plan is calculated annually 
by an independent actuary with the use of the projected unit credit method. The discounting rate used 
is based on the current price of 10+ year iBoxx AA euro Corporate Bond Index. 

Actuarial gains and losses arising from adjustments based on historical data concerning economic and 
demographic assumptions are recognised in the income statement of the period in which they occur. 
Past-service costs are recognised immediately in the income statement. 

For defined contribution plans, the Group pays contributions to publicly administered pension 
insurance plans. The Group has no further payment obligations once the contributions have been paid. 
Contributions are recognised as employee benefit expense when they are due. Prepaid contributions 
are recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the future payments is 
available. 
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2.22 Revenue recognition 

Revenue is recognized to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group 
and Company and the relevant amounts can be reliably measured.  

Revenue from the sale of goods, net of rebates and discounts is recognized when the significant risks 
and rewards incidental to ownership of the goods have been transferred to the buyer. Revenue arising 
from services is recognised in the accounting period in which the services are rendered, by reference 
to stage of completion of the specific transaction and assessed on the basis of the actual service 
provided as a proportion of the total services to be provided and the collection of payment is reasonably 
assured. Interest income is recognized as the interest accrues. 

 

2.23 Expenses 

Expenses are recognized on an accrual basis. Payments made under an operating lease are transferred 
to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. 

 

2.24 Earnings per share 

The basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the profits attributable to equity holders of the 
Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year. Diluted earnings 
per share are calculated by dividing the profits attributable to equity holders of the Company (after 
deducting the interest on convertible shares) by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in 
issue during the year (adjusted for the effect of the diluted convertible shares). 

 

3. Significant accounting estimates and judgments 

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make estimates and judgments 
that affect the reported amount of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and related disclosures of 
contingent assets and liabilities included in the financial statements. On an ongoing basis, management 
evaluates its estimates, including those related to legal contingencies, allowance for doubtful accounts, 
impairment of financial assets, impairment of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, 
recognition of revenues and expenses and income taxes. Management bases its estimates on its 
experience and on various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable. The results of these 
estimations form the bases for making judgments about the carrying value of assets and liabilities that 
are not readily available from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under 
different assumptions or conditions. 

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the 
reporting date, that have a significant risk of causing material adjustment to the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities within the next financial year are as follows: 

Deferred tax assets 

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities have been provided for the tax effects of temporary 
differences between the carrying amount and tax base of such assets and liabilities, using enacted tax 
rates in effect in the years in which the differences are expected to reverse. Deferred tax assets are 
recognized for all deductible temporary differences, carry forward of unused tax credits and unused tax 
losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against which the deductible 
temporary differences and the carry forward of unused tax credits and unused losses can be utilized. 
The Group and the Company have considered future taxable income and followed ongoing feasible and 
prudent tax planning strategy in the assessment of the recoverability of deferred tax assets. The 
accounting estimate related to deferred tax assets requires management to make assumptions 
regarding the timing of future events, including the probability of expected future taxable income and 
available tax planning opportunities.  
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Impairment of property, plant and equipment 

The determination of impairment of property, plant and equipment involves the use of estimates that 
include, but are not limited to, the cause, timing and amount of the impairment. Impairment is based 
on a large number of factors. The recoverable amount is typically determined using a discounted cash 
flow method. The identification of impairment indicators, as well as the estimation of future cash flows 
and the determination of fair values for assets (or groups of assets) require management to make 
significant judgments concerning the identification and validation of impairment indicators, expected 
cash flows, applicable discount rates, useful lives and residual values. 

Provision for doubtful trade receivables 

The Group and the Company establish an allowance for doubtful accounts sufficient to cover reasonably 
estimable loss for these accounts. At each reporting date all accounts receivable are assessed based on 
historical trends, statistical information, future expectations regarding its late customers. The balance 
of such allowance for doubtful accounts is adjusted by recording a charge to the income statement of 
the reporting period. Any amount written off with respect to customer account balances is charged 
against the existing allowance for doubtful accounts. It is the Group’s policy never to write-off any 
receivable until all possible legal recourse for their collection has been exhausted. 

Provision for employee post-retirement benefits 

Employee retirement indemnities are calculated at the discounted present value of the future 
retirement benefits deemed to have accrued at year-end. Retirement obligations are calculated on the 
basis of financial and actuarial assumptions that require Management to make assumptions regarding 
discount rates, pay increases, mortality and disability rates, retirement ages and other factors. Changes 
in these key assumptions can have a significant impact on the obligation and pension costs for the 
period. Net pension costs for the period consist of the present value of benefits earned in the year, 
interest costs on the benefits obligation, prior service costs and actuarial gains or losses. Due to the 
long term nature of these defined benefit plans these assumptions are subject to a significant degree 
of uncertainty. 

Contingent liabilities 

The existence of contingent liabilities requires that Management constantly make assumptions and 
value judgments regarding the possibility that future events may or may not occur, as well as the effect 
that these events could have on the activity of the Group and the Company. 
 

4. Operating segment information 

The company deals with the production, distribution and marketing of cosmetics, pharmaceutical 
products and marketing of child food products. 

The following information is provided for the reportable segments, which are separately disclosed in 
the financial statements and which are regularly reviewed by the Group’s management. Segments were 
determined considering the revenue generated by each operation and the Group’s legal structure. 

Information about operating segments that do not constitute reportable segments has been combined 
and disclosed in an “Other” category. This category includes all the other operations of the Group. 

Accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as those followed for the preparation of 
the financial statements.  
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Segment information and reconciliation to the Group’s consolidated figures are as follows: 

2016 Cosmetics Child food Other Total 

Gross revenue 30.288.652,43 8.432.045,02 1.098.861,25 39.819.558,70 
Operating results before 
depreciation  

4.188.298,23 1.555.586,01 163.006,67 5.906.890,91 

Depreciation 204.583,75 22.926,41 7.422,22 234.932,38 
Finance income / expenses, net 164.511,67 45.798,33 5.968,42 216.278,43 
Profits before tax 3.819.202,81 1.486.861,27 149.616,02 5.455.680,10 
Income tax (1.389.175,13) (540.822,47) (54.420,48) (1.984.418,08) 
Profit after tax 2.430.027,68 946.038,80 95.195,54 3.471.262,02 
     
     
Total Assets 16.523.893,37 3.300.328,03 599.480,82 20.423.702,22 
Total Liabilities 14.804.256,35 2.108.422,41 537.093,01 17.449.771,77 

 

 

2015 Cosmetics Child food Other Total 

Gross revenue 24.909.198,04 7.171.978,40 1.180.652,35 33.261.828,79 
Operating results before 
depreciation  4.966.704,08 570.780,45 203.790,66 5.741.275,19 
Depreciation (156.075,90) (34.887,55) (7.027.84) (197.991,30) 
Finance income / expenses, net (317.779,11) (91.496,52) (15.062,17) (424.337,80) 
Profits before tax 4.492.849,07 444.396,38 181.700,64 5.118.946,09 
Income tax (1.378.712,99) (136.371,16) (55.758,17) (1.570.842,32) 
Profit after tax  

3.114.136,08 308.025,21 125.942,48 3.548.103,77 
     
     
Total Assets 12.131.261,02 2.754.726,42 620.249,48 15.506.236,91 
Total Liabilities 12.391.559,58 1.783.442,56 590.625,09 14.765.627,23 
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5. Notes to the financial statements 

 

5.1 Property, plant and equipment 
 
The account «Property, plant and equipment» is analysed as follows: 
 

 COMPANY Land 

Land held 
under 

finance 
lease 

Buildings 
Buildings 

held under 
finance lease 

Machinery Vehicles 
Furniture & 

other 
equipment 

Assets under 
construction 

Balance at 01/01/2015 106.020,78 840.952,56 300.972,71 1.284.963,12 26.471,39 11.000,51 140.475,38 2.710.856,45 

Additions   2.040,00  6.462,31 11.004,00 58.321,27 77.827,58 
Disposals       (48.430,42) (48.430,42) 
Depreciation charge   (7.901,43) (29.882,86) (6.308,76) (3.184,67) (27.393,57) (74.671,29) 
Disposals       48.429,68 48.429,68 

Balance at 31/12/2015 106.020,78 840.952,56 295.111,280 1.255.080,26 26.624,94 18.819,84 171.402,34 2.714.012,00 

Cost 114.662,29  840.952,56  715.450,83  1.484.047,60  124.069,39  138.485,97  717.532,46  4.135.201,10  

Accumulated depreciation   (217.827,10) (228.967,34) (97.444,45) (119.666,13) (546.130,12) (1.210.035,14) 

Accumulated losses of 
impairment of PPE 

(8.641,51)  (202.512,45)     (211.153,96) 

Balance at 31/12/2015 106.020,78 840.952,56 295.111,280 1.255.080,26 26.624,94 18.819,84 171.402,34 2.714.012,00 

         
Balance at 01/01/2016 106.020,78 840.952,56 295.111,280 1.255.080,26 26.624,94 18.819,84 171.402,34 2.714.012,00 

Additions     1.140,00  11.395,00  64.944,72  77.479,72  

Disposals       (14.626,40) (14.626,40) 

Readjustment at fair values 
of PPE 

20.515,50   (30.689,96)     (10.174,46) 

Reclassifications   (101.702,29) 107.249,22     5.546,93  

Depreciation charge   (7.798,88) (32.250,57) (6.836,45) (4.111,85) (66.399,35) (117.397,10) 

Disposals       10.928,86  10.928,86  

Reclassifications   7.805,30  (7.805,30)    -  

Balance at 31/12/2016 126.536,28  840.952,56  162.725,45  1.322.273,62  20.928,49  26.102,99  166.250,17  2.665.769,56  

Cost 135.177,79  840.952,56  613.748,54  1.591.296,82  125.209,39  149.880,97  767.850,78  4.224.116,85  

Accumulated depreciation   (217.820,68) (269.023,21) (104.280,90) (123.777,98) (601.600,61) (1.316.503,38) 

Accumulated losses of 
impairment of PPE 

(8.641,51)  (233.202,41)     (241.843,92) 

Balance at 31/12/2016 126.536,28  840.952,56  162.725,45  1.322.273,62  20.928,49  26.102,99  166.250,17  2.665.769,56  

 

  

Investments in PPE 

The company’s investments in property plant and equipment during the year amounted to  
€ 77.479,72 (2015: €77.827,58).  

Disposal of assets 

During 2016, the Company recognized losses of € 423,11 from the disposal of property plant and 
equipment with a total carrying value of €3.502,31. 

Impairment test 

The measured fair value of buildings and land is based on a study carried out by an independent valuer. 
From the re-measurement of owner occupied properties a positive adjustment of € 20.515,50 was 
recognised in the revaluation reserve and an impairment loss of € 10.174,46 was recognized in the 
statement of comprehensive income. 

Property, plant and equipment pledged as security 

Over the company’s property there is mortgage of € 240.000 securing a bank credit facility. 

As at 31/12/2016 and 31/12/2015 the subsidiary company Frezyderm UK Ltd did not have any fixed 
assets. 
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5.2 Intangible assets 

The account «Intangible assets» is analysed as follows: 

 

 
Licenses 

Trademarks / 
logos 

Software 
programs 

Other Total 

Balance as at 01.01.2015 990.660,77 68.947,37 222.292,83 86.874,01 1.368.774,98 

Additions 83.297,16 3.272,85 34.898,27 14.220,00 135.688,28 

Balance as at 31.12.2015 1.073.957,93 72.220,22 257.191,10 101.094,01 1.504.463,26 

Depreciation      
Balance as at 01.01.2015 (520.938,55) (42.240,43) (202.065,08) (24.922,84) (790.166,90) 
Additions (80.108,74)  (3.566,87) (10.851,49) (28.346,93) (122.874,03) 

Balance as at 31.12.2015 (601.047,29)  (45.807,30) (212.916,57) (53.269,77) (913.040,93) 

      

Net book value as of 
31.12.2015 472.910,64 26.412,92 44.274,53 47.824,24 591.422,33 
      
      
Balance as at 01.01.2016 1.073.957,93 72.220,22 257.191,10 101.094,01 1.504.463,26 
Additions 42.762,03  2.061,98 41.047,75 85.871,76 
Disposals   (107,77)  (107,77) 
Write-off   (1.165,51)  (1.165,51) 

Balance as at 31.12.2016 1.116.719,96 72.220,22 257.979,80 142.141,76 1.589.061,74 

Depreciation      
Balance as at 01.01.2016 (601.047,29)  (45.807,30) (212.916,57) (53.269,77) (913.040,93) 
Additions (92.704,84) (3.683,00) (13.901,94) (12.797,82) (123.087,60) 

Disposals   17,97  17,97 

Write-off   1.165,43  1.165,43 

Balance as at 31.12.2016 (693.752,13) (49.490,30) (225.635,11) (66.067,59) (1.034.945,13) 

      
Net book value as of 
31.12.2016 

422.967,83 22.729,92 32.350,08 76.074,17 554.122,00 

 

Licenses refer to product certifications for their distribution domestically and abroad. 

The company’s investments in intangible assets during the year amounted to € 85.871,76 (2015: € 
135.688,28).  

As at 31/12/2016 and 31/12/2015 the subsidiary company Frezyderm UK Ltd did not have any 
intangible assets. 
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5.3 Investments in subsidiaries 
 

COMPANY COUNTRY 
% Ownership 

interest 
31/12/2016 

% Ownership 
interest 

31/12/2015 

Value 
31/12/2016 

Value 
31/12/2015 

FREZYDERM UK LTD 
United Kingdom 100% 100% 879.042,52 68.167,72 

 
The basic financial information of FREZYDERM UK LTD is presented below: 
 

 31/12/2016  31/12/2015 
Statement of financial position    
Non-current assets -  - 
Current assets 601.959,03  78.680,69 

Total assets 601.959,03  78.680,69 
    
Total equity 140.278,25  39.363,84 
Short term-liabilities 461.680,78  - 

Total equity and liabilities 601.959,03  78.680,69 
    
Statement of comprehensive income    
Total revenue 46.369,10  - 
Other operating income 2.453,26  - 
Total operating expenses (691.321,18)  (30.716,31) 
Loss before investment activities (679.808,64)  (30.716,31) 
Net financial income / (expenses)  (568,70)  - 
Loss before tax (680.377,34)  (30.716,31) 
Income tax -  - 
Loss for the year (680.377,34)  (30.716,31) 
    
Statement of cash flows    
Net cash flows (used in) / generated from operating activities (302.224,09)  3.794,45   
Net cash flows generated from investing activities 307,94    - 
Net cash flows generated from financing activities 810.874,80  68.167,72 
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 508.958,65  71.962,17 

 
 
Frezyderm UK Limited was incorporated on 6 July 2015. It is exempt from the requirements relating to 
the audit of its accounts as Frezyderm S.A. has guaranteed their debts under section 479A of the 
companies Act 2006. 
  
 
 

Share capital increase of the subsidiary company  

During the current year the subsidiary company FREZYDERM UK LTD increased its share capital by a) 

GBP 400.000 where the parent company participated and fully covered the share capital increase by 

payment in cash and by b) GBP 250.000 which was satisfied by the capitalization of equal intercompany 

balances.  

Impairment test 

The Group’s Management assesses whether there is any indication of impairment of its participations 
at least on an annual basis. For this reason the value in use of each cash generating unit must be 
estimated. The recoverable amount of the above cash generating units was determined based on the 
value in use calculations. These calculations use cash flow projections based on financial budgets 
approved by management covering a five-year period and take into account the Group’s long term 
prospective. The discount rate applied to the projected cash flows is 6,66%. From the impairment test 
it was determined that there is no need for impairment of the company’s participation in its subsidiary 
FREZYDERM UK LTD. 
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5.4 Investment property 

The account investment property is analysed as follows: 

 
 GROUP  COMPANY 
 31/12/2016  31/12/2015  31/12/2016  31/12/2015 
At beginning of period 632.515,50  632.515,50  632.515,50  632.515,50 
Loss arising from re-measurement at fair 
value (33.115,50)  - 

 
(33.115,50)  - 

At end of period 599.400,00  632.515,50  599.400,00  632.515,50 

 

The Company holds property which is not occupied in the production or supply of goods, or for 
administrative purposes and is held for long-term rental yields, or for capital appreciation and are free 
of any encumbrance. The company has chosen the fair value method for determining the carrying value 
of its investment properties. Gains or losses arising from changes in fair value are recognized in the 
income statement in the period when they occur. 

The fair value of level 3 investment properties is measured by independent external valuers.  

From the re-measurement of the Company’s investment property an impairment loss of € 33.115,50 
was recognized. 

 

 

5.5 Other non-current receivables 

Other non-current receivables of a total amount of € 67.603,65 (2015: € 88.140,55) mainly refer to rent 
guarantees. 

 

 

5.6 Inventories 

The account «Inventories» is analysed as follows: 

 

 GROUP  COMPANY 
 31/12/2016  31/12/2015  31/12/2016  31/12/2015 
Merchandise 1.298.689,50  1.082.099,60  1.298.689,50  1.082.099,60 
Products 3.097.059,87  1.806.517,89  3.097.059,87  1.806.517,89 
Raw materials 3.918.865,57  2.411.541,59  3.918.865,57  2.411.541,59 
Less: provision for impairment of 
inventories (114.610,60)  - 

 
(114.610,60)  - 

Total 8.200.004,34  5.300.159,08  8.200.004,34  5.300.159,08 

 
The current year’s provision amounts to € 114.610,60, and refers to slow moving stock which is not 
expected to be sold.  
The Group’s inventories are free of any encumbrances. 

  



FREZYDERM S.A. 

(amounts in euro unless stated otherwise) 

 

39 

 

 

5.7 Trade and other receivables 
 
The account «Trade and other receivables» is analysed as follows 

 

 GROUP  COMPANY 

 31/12/2016  31/12/2015  31/12/2016  31/12/2015 

Trade receivables        

Trade receivables 995.291,19  364.033,96  1.001.822,51  364.033,96 

Notes receivable overdue 3.917,78  3.917,78  3.917,78  3.917,78 
Cheques receivable 2.056.865,76  2.634.853,51  2.056.865,76  2.634.853,51 
Cheques receivable overdue 585.584,61  609.750,30  585.584,61  609.750,30 
Less: Allowance for doubtful debts (707.388,48)  (712.487,91)  (707.388,48)  (712.487,91) 

 2.934.270,86  2.900.067,64  2.940.802,18  2.900.067,64 

        
Other receivables        
Short term receivables from 
associates - 

 
- 

 
396.044,23  34.482,31 

Other debtors 110.071,83  33.009,98  65.758,23  28.203,89 
Receivables from the Greek State 1.502.741,08  1.111.221,67  1.502.741,08  1.111.221,67 
Doubtful and litigious customers 
and debtors - 

 
24.985,83 

 
-  24.985,83 

Prepaid expenses  142.625,89  74.011,05  142.625,89  74.011,05 
Less: Allowance for doubtful debts -  (24.985,83)  -  (24.985,83) 

 1.755.438,80  1.218.242,70  2.107.169,43  1.247.918,92 

Total 4.689.709,66  4.118.310,34  5.047.971,61  4.147.986,56 

 
As at year end the fair value of trade and other receivables approximates their carrying value.  

 
The movement in the allowance for doubtful accounts as at December 31, 2016 and 2015 has as 
follows:  
 

 GROUP  COMPANY 
 31/12/2016  31/12/2015  31/12/2016  31/12/2015 

Balance as at 01.01 (737.473,74)  (712.263,17)  (737.473,74)  (712.263,17) 

Additional provision   (25.210,57)    (25.210,57) 

Utilized  30.085,26    30.085,26   

Balance as at 31.12 (707.388,48)  (737.473,74)  (707.388,48)  (737.473,74) 

 
As at 31/12/2016 and 31/12/2015 there are no past due non-impaired receivables. 
 
The aging analysis of trade receivables has as follows:  

 
 GROUP  COMPANY 
 31/12/2016  31/12/2015  31/12/2016  31/12/2015 

Up to 30 days 1.104.895,29  928.269,21  1.111.426,61  928.269,21 

From 31 to 180 days 1.816.283,59  1.919.224,43  1.816.283,59  1.919.224,43 

From 181 to 360 days 13.091,98  52.574,00  13.091,98  52.574,00 

 2.934.270,86  2.900.067,64  2.940.802,18  2.900.067,64 
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5.8 Cash and cash equivalents 
 

The account «Cash and cash equivalents» is analysed as follows: 
 

 GROUP  COMPANY 

 31/12/2016  31/12/2015  31/12/2016  31/12/2015 
Cash in hand 646.593,06  797.778,56  646.593,06  797.778,56 
Short-term bank deposits 2.570.564,71  312.698,25  2.039.725,68  238.823,65 

Total 3.217.157,77  1.110.476,81  2.686.318,74  1.036.602,21 

 

Interest income from bank deposits is included in finance income.  
 

5.9 Share capital 

 

  
Number of 

shares 
Nominal 

value 
Total share 

capital 

31 DECEMBER 2015 20.000 56,20 1.124.000,00 

31 DECEMBER 2016 20.000 56,20 1.124.000,00 

 
 
 

5.10 Reserves 

Statutory reserve: According to Greek corporate law it is mandatory to transfer, every fiscal year, an 
amount of 5 % of the net profit after tax to the «statutory reserves» account until the total amount 
equals  1/3 of the Company’s share capital. The «statutory reserves» account cannot be distributed to 
the shareholders. 
 
The account «Reserves» is analysed as follows: 

 

GROUP 

Statutory 
reserve 

Other 
reserves 

Foreign exchange 
reserve 

Fair value 
revaluation 

reserve 
Total 

      

Balance as at 01/01/15 234.239,65 92.729,28 - 28.405,68 355.374,61 

Foreign currency translation    1.912,43  1.912,43 

Statutory reserve 105.018,72    105.018,72 

Adjustment of tax rate    (1.151,58) (1.151,58) 

Capitalization of reserve  (92.729,28)   (92.729,28) 

Balance as at 31/12/15 339.258,37 - 1.912,43 27.254,10 368.424,90 

      

Balance as at 01/01/16 339.258,37 - 1.912,43 27.254,10 368.424,90 

Statutory reserve 133.208,40    133.208,40 

Foreign currency translation   (29.583,05)  (29.583,05) 

Re-measurement of property    6.927,29 6.927,29 

Balance as at 31/12/16 472.466,77  (27.670,62) 34.181,39 478.977,54 
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COMPANY 

Statutory 
reserve 

Other reserves 
Fair value 

revaluation 
reserve 

Total 

Balance as at 01/01/15 234.239,65 92.729,28 28.405,68 355.374,61 

Statutory reserve 105.018,72   105.018,72 

Adjustment of tax rate   (1.151,58) (1.151,58) 

Capitalization of reserve  (92.729,28)  (92.729,28) 

Balance as at 31/12/15 339.258,37 - 27.254,10 366.512,47 

     

Balance as at 01/01/16 339.258,37 - 27.254,10 366.512,47 

Statutory reserve 133.208,40   133.208,40 

Re-measurement of property   6.927,29 6.927,29 

Balance as at 31/12/16 472.466,77 - 34.181,39 506.648,16 

     

 
From the re-measurement of owner occupied properties an adjustment of € 6.927,29 net of tax was 
recognized. 

 

5.11 Borrowings 

The company’s borrowings are analysed as follows: 

 
 GROUP  COMPANY 

Non-current borrowings 31/12/2016  31/12/2015  31/12/2016  31/12/2015 

Finance lease liabilities 1.259.617,80  1.425.486,00  1.259.617,80  1.425.486,00 

Total non-current borrowings 1.259.617,80  1.425.486,00  1.259.617,80  1.425.486,00 

        

Current borrowings        

Bank borrowings 837.630,03  2.258.715,40  837.630,03  2.258.715,40 

Finance lease liabilities 165.868,18  150.963,90  165.868,18  150.963,90 

Total current borrowings 1.003.498,21  2.409.679,30  1.003.498,21  2.409.679,30 

        

Total borrowings 2.263.116,01  3.835.165,30  2.263.116,01  3.835.165,30 

 

The key terms of the current borrowings are presented in the following table: 

 

Currency Type of loan Bank 
Contract 

date 
Contract 
amount 

Balance 
31.12.2016 

Balance 
31.12.2015 

€ Current credit facility  NBG 5/2/2013 
4.800.000,0

0 
409.395,72 883.135,31 

€ Current credit facility EFG 1/1/1997 
5.300.000,0

0 
- - 

€ Current credit facility EFG 11/02/2015 500.000,00 115.560,00 151.112,00 

€ Factoring EFG 21/2/2014 - 211.781.34 1.150.327,64 

€ Current credit facility Piraeus 15/11/2011 
1.500.000,0

0 
100.854,02 74.140,45 
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The company’s borrowings are in Euro. Bank borrowings are secured by a) a mortgage for € 240.000 
registered on the company’s property and b) by pledged cheques receivable amounting to  
€ 558.425,88 
As at 31/12/2016 and 31/12/2015 subsidiary did not have any loan commitments.  

Finance lease liabilities 

The present value of future minimum lease payments has as follows: 
 
Finance lease liabilities - minimum lease payments 
 

 GROUP COMPANY 
 31/12/2016 31/12/2015 31/12/2016 31/12/2015 
Up to 1 year 307.310,42 312.824,59  307.310,42 312.824,59  
From 2 years and not later than 5 years 1.255.499,65 1.251.298,37  1.255.499,65 1.251.298,37  
Over 5 years 392.353,62 703.865,33  392.353,62 703.865,33  

Total 1.955.163,69 2.267.988,30  1.955.163,69 2.267.988,30  

Future financial expenses relating to finance 
leases (529.677,71) (691.538,40) (529.677,71) (691.538,40) 

 1.425.485,98 1.576.449,90  1.425.485,98 1.576.449,90  

 
 
Present value of finance lease liabilities 
 

Up to 1 year 165.868,18 150.963,90 165.868,18 150.963,90 

From 2 years and not later than 5 years 891.213,30 798.244,52  891.213,30 798.244,52  

Over 5 years 368.404,50 627.241,48  368.404,50 627.241,48  

 1.425.485,98 1.576.449,90  1.425.485,98 1.576.449,90 

 

 

5.12 Deferred revenue 

 
 GROUP  COMPANY 
 31/12/2016  31/12/2015  31/12/2016  31/12/2015 

Deferred revenue 406.901,86  484.406,97  406.901,86  484.406,97 

 

Deferred revenue includes the profit that derived from the sale and leaseback of the company’s 
property according to IAS 17, and is to be amortised over the period of the finance lease which was 
determined to be 15 years. 
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5.13 Retirement benefit obligations 
 
The retirement benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements are analysed below. 

 
 GROUP  COMPANY 

 31/12/2016  31/12/2015  31/12/2016  31/12/2015 

Current service cost 585.632,62  537.906,62  585.632,62  537.906,62 

Termination benefits paid out (647,50)  (23.181,21)  (647,50)  (23.181,21) 
Income / (expense) recognised in the 
statement of comprehensive income  49.779,94 

 
65.256,94 

 
49.779,94 

 
65.256,94 

Actuarial loss/(gain) 54.669,49  5.650,27  54.669,49  5.650,27 

Retirement benefit obligations in the 
statement of financial position 689.434,55 

 
585.631,62 

 
689.434,55 

 
585.631,62 

 

The amounts recognized in the statement of comprehensive income are as follows: 

 

 GROUP  COMPANY 
 31/12/2016  31/12/2015  31/12/2016  31/12/2015 

Current service cost 37.837,93  36.625,35  37.837,93  36.625,35 

Interest cost 11.712,64  13.447,67  11.712,64  13.447,67 

Settlement cost 229,37  15.183,12  229,37  15.183,12 

Total amount charged to statement of 
comprehensive income  49.779,94 

 
65.256,14 

 
49.779,94 

 
65.256,14 

 

The movement of the net liability included in the statement of financial positions is as follows: 

 

 GROUP  COMPANY 
 31/12/2016  31/12/2015  31/12/2016  31/12/2015 

Net liability at beginning of the period 585.631,62  537.906,62  585.631,62  537.906,62 

Employment benefits paid (647,50)  (23.181,21)  (647,50)  (23.181,21) 

Current service cost 37.837,93  36.625,35  37.837,93  36.625,35 

Interest cost 11.712,64  13.447,67  11.712,64  13.447,67 

Settlement cost 229,37  15.183,92  229,37  15.183,92 

Actuarial loss/(gain) 54.669,49  5.650,27  54.669,49  5.650,27 

Retirement benefit obligations in the 
statement of financial position 689.434,55 

 
585.631,62 

 
689.434,55 

 
585.631,62 

 

The amounts recognised in equity through other comprehensive income are: 

 
 GROUP  COMPANY 

 31/12/2016  31/12/2015  31/12/2016  31/12/2015 

Actuarial loss/(gain) 54.669,49  5.650,27  54.669,49  5.650,27 
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The analysis of the defined benefit plan obligations' sensitivity to changes in actuarial assumptions is as 
follows: 
 

 
Liability 

Percentage 
change 

Increase of discount rate by 0,5%  627.705  -9% 
Decrease of discount rate by 0,5% 758.726 10% 
Increase of salary increase assumption by 0,5%  754.897 9% 
Decrease of salary increase assumption by 0,5%  628.111 -9% 

 

The principal actuarial assumptions used are as follows: 
 

 31/12/2016 31/12/2015 

Discount rate 1,8% 2% 

Future salary increases 2% 2% 

Inflation 2% 2% 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

5.14 Trade and other payables 
 

The account «Trade and other payables» is analysed as follows: 
 

 GROUP  COMPANY 

 31/12/2016  31/12/2015  31/12/2016  31/12/2015 
Trade liabilities          

Trade payables 2.856.711,69  2.509.735,66  2.802.299,43  2.508.218,56 

Customer advances 1.674.543,58  824.579,35  1.674.543,58  824.579,35 

Cheques payable 7.043.805,47  3.682.691,00  7.043.805,47  3.682.691,00 

 11.575.060,74  7.017.006,01  11.520.648,48  7.015.488,91 

Other liabilities        

Accrued expenses 55.077,31  27.657,07  55.077,31  27.657,07 

Social security 342.042,46  506.044,52  333.825,83  506.044,52 

Sundry creditors 16.245,32  185.407,00  12.073,88  182.089,56 

Deferred income 77.505,11  77.505,11  77.505,11  77.505,11 

 490.870,20  796.613,70  478.482,13  793.296,26 

Total 12.065.930,94  7.813.619,71  11.999.130,61  7.808.785,17 

 

5.15 Tax liabilities 
 

The account «Tax liabilities» is analysed as follows: 
 

 GROUP  COMPANY 

 31/12/2016  31/12/2015  31/12/2016  31/12/2015 

Value added tax -  241.048,21   -  241.048,21  

Employment tax 178.627,31  211.652,85   178.627,31  211.652,85  

Taxes and duties on third party fees 6.847,13  31.686,10   6.847,13  31.686,10  

Income tax 1.791.637,74  1.482.246,39   1.791.637,74  1.482.246,39  

Other taxes payable 47.277,23  80.170,08   47.277,23  80.170,08  

Total 2.024.389,41  2.046.803,63   2.024.389,41  2.046.803,63  
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5.16 Expenses by nature 

Expenses (cost of sales, administrative expenses, selling expenses, research & development expenses)  
are analysed as follows: 
 

 GROUP  COMPANY 

 31/12/2016  31/12/2015  31/12/2016  31/12/2015 
Employee benefits 8.271.272,98  6.246.197,06  8.148.182,20  6.246.197,06 
Third party fees 2.965.722,91  2.110.997,59  2.852.081,14  2.110.997,59 
Services & utilities costs 906.338,72  387.179,39  873.819,11  387.179,39 
Taxes & duties 648.339,11  510.952,78  648.339,11  510.952,78 
Other expenses 8.313.172,04  6.930.377,01  7.924.440,74  6.899.660,70 
Depreciation 234.932,38  197.991,30  234.932,38  197.991,30 
Provisions 84.525,34  53.837,57  84.525,34  53.837,57 
Raw materials and 
consumables used 

13.028.953,78 
 

11.183.610,64 
 

12.991.643,96 
 

11.183.610,64 

  34.453.257,26  27.621.143,34  33.757.963,98  27.590.427,03 

 

The above expenses are allocated to: 
 

 GROUP  COMPANY 
 31/12/2016  31/12/2015  31/12/2016  31/12/2015 

Cost of sales 15.707.287,79   11.758.577,95  15.703.315,69   11.758.577,95 

Administrative expenses 3.101.964,78   2.297.059,58  2.410.643,60   2.266.343,27 

Selling expenses 15.433.669,95   13.341.777,80  15.433.669,95   13.341.777,80 

Research & development 210.334,74   223.728,01  210.334,74   223.728,01 

 34.453.257,26  27.621.143,34  33.757.963,98  27.590.427,03 

 

5.17 Other operating income / (expense) 
 
The account «Other operating income/ (expense)» is analysed as follows: 
 

 GROUP  COMPANY 
 31/12/2016  31/12/2015  31/12/2016  31/12/2015 

Other expenses        
Loss on disposal of PPE (423,11)    (423,11)  - 
Other operating expenses (25.488,96)  (161.530,07)  (25.488,96)  (161.530,07) 
Fair value loss from investment 
property 

(33.115,50) 
 

 
 

(33.115,50) 
 

 
Fair value loss from PPE (19.931,20)    (19.931,20)   
Other income         
Jointly collectable revenues 34.923,18  15.747,17  34.923,18  15.747,17 
Other income 349.692,68  48.381,34  381.740,92  48.381,34 

Total 305.657,09  (97.401,56)  337.705,33  (97.401,56) 
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5.18 Finance income / (expenses)  
 

The account «Finance income (expenses)» is analysed as follows»: 
 

 GROUP 
 

COMPANY 

 31/12/2016 
 

31/12/2015 
 

31/12/2016 
 

31/12/2015 
Finance expenses        
Interest and related expenses (89.459,86)  (165.765,95)   (88.583,22)  (165.765,95)  
Expenses and interest on collection of 
receivables 

(49.975,34) 
 (164.915,65)   (49.975,34)  (164.915,65)  

Finance lease interest (141.745,00)  (156.757,18)   (141.745,00)  (156.757,18)  
Bank commissions and expenses (1.200,00)  (960,00)   (1.200,00)  (960,00)  
Finance costs of actuarial studies (11.712,64)  (13.448,00)   (11.712,64)  (13.448,00)  

 (294.092,84)  (501.846,78)   (293.216,20)  (501.846,78)  

Finance income        
Interest and related income 309,3  3,87  1,36  3,87 
Profit on the sale & leaseback of 
property 77.505,11  77.505,11  77.505,11  77.505,11 

 77.814,41  77.508,98  77.506,47  77.508,98 

Total, net (216.278,43)  (424.337,80)  (215.709,73)  (424.337,80) 

 
 

5.19 Income tax – Deferred tax 

The income tax rate of legal entities in Greece was set to 29% for 2015 and thereafter.  

Greek tax regulations and related clauses are subject to interpretation by the tax authorities and 
administrative courts of law. Tax returns are filed annually. With respect to the financial years up to 
and including 2010, the profits or losses declared for tax purposes remain provisional until the tax 
authorities examine the tax returns and the records of the tax payer and a final assessment is issued. 
From the financial year 2011 and onwards, the tax returns are subject to the Audit Tax Certificate 
process. Net operating losses which are tax deductible, can be carried forward against taxable profits 
for a period of five years from the year they are generated. Under Greek tax regulations, an income tax 
advance calculation on each year’s current income tax liability is paid to the tax authorities. Such 
advance is then netted off with the following year’s income tax liability. Any excess advance amounts 
are refunded to the companies following a tax examination. 

Audit Tax Certificate  

From the financial year 2011 and onwards, Greek Societe Anonyme and Limited Liability Companies 
that are required to prepare audited statutory financial statements must also obtain an “Annual Tax 
Certificate” as provided by paragraph 5 of Article 82 of L. 2238/1994 and article 65a of L. 4174/2013. 
This “Annual Tax Certificate” must be issued by the same statutory auditor or audit firm that issues the 
audit opinion on the statutory financial statements. Upon completion of the tax audit, the statutory 
auditor or audit firm must issue to the entity a "Tax Compliance Report" which will subsequently be 
submitted electronically to the Ministry of Finance, by the statutory auditor or audit firm. 

For the parent company that is subject to the Tax Certificate process the "Tax Compliance Report" for 
the financial years 2011 to 2015 has been issued and submitted with no substantial adjustments. For 
the parent company the tax audit for the year 2016 in accordance with the provisions of article 65a of 
the Greek Tax Code (Law 4174/2013) is in progress and the relevant tax certificate is expected to be 
granted after the publication of the 2016 annual financial statements. If additional tax liabilities arise 
until the tax audit is completed, we estimate that these will not have any material effect on the financial 
statements. 
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Unaudited tax years 

The parent company has not been audited by the tax authorities for the fiscal year 2010. The subsidiary 
company has not been audited by the tax authorities for the fiscal years 2015 and 2016 (the company 
was incorporated in 2015 and consequently the year ended 31/12/2015 consists its first fiscal year). 

The income tax recorded in the income statement is analysed as follows: 

 
 GROUP  COMPANY 

 31/12/2016  31/12/2015  31/12/2016  31/12/2015 
Income tax 1.450.128,48  1.110.776,60  1.450.128,48  1.110.776,60 
Deferred tax 534.289,60  460.065,72  534.289,60  460.065,72 

Total 1.984.418,08  1.570.842,32  1.984.418,08  1.570.842,32 

 

Deferred income tax is recognised using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between 
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements as analysed 
below: 
 

GROUP 
Deferred tax assets  

(Charged)/credite
d to the income 

statement 

(Charged)/cre
dited to other 
comprehensiv

e income  

 01/01/2015   31/12/2015 

Property, plant and equipment and intangible 
assets 1.193.271,08 (481.167,28)  712.103,80 

Investment property 135.383,06 15.621,12  151.004,18 

Retirement benefit obligations 139.856,72 28.338,96 1.808,80 170.004,48 

 1.468.510,86 (437.207,20) 1.808,80 1.033.112,46 

 01/01/2016   31/12/2016 
Property, plant and equipment and intangible 
assets 712.103,80 (575.547,47)  136.556,33 

Investment property 151.004,18 9.603,50  160.607,68 

Retirement benefit obligations 170.004,48 14.077,25 15.854,00 199.935,73 

Impairment of inventories  33.237,07  33.237,07 

 1.033.112,46 (518.629,65) 15.854,00 530.336,81 

 

COMPANY 
Deferred tax assets  

(Charged)/credite
d to the income 

statement 

(Charged)/cre
dited to other 
comprehensiv

e income  

 01/01/2015   31/12/2015 

Property, plant and equipment and intangible 
assets 1.193.271,08 (481.167,28)  712.103,80 

Investment property 135.383,06 15.621,12  151.004,18 

Retirement benefit obligations 139.856,72 28.338,96 1.808,80 170.004,48 

 1.468.510,86 (437.207,20) 1.808,80 1.033.112,46 

 01/01/2016   31/12/2016 
Property, plant and equipment and intangible 
assets 712.103,80 (575.547,47)  136.556,33 

Investment property 151.004,18 9.603,50  160.607,68 

Retirement benefit obligations 170.004,48 14.077,25 15.854,00 199.935,73 
Impairment of inventories  33.237,07  33.237,07 

 1.033.112,46 (518.629,65) 15.854,00 530.336,81 
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GROUP 
Deferred tax liabilities  

(Charged)/credite
d to the income 

statement 

(Charged)/cre
dited to other 
comprehensiv

e income  

 01/01/2015   31/12/2015 

Property, plant and equipment and intangible 
assets (57.902,06) (22.858,52) (1.151,58) (81.912,16) 

 (57.902,06) (22.858,52) (1.151,58) (81.912,16) 

 01/01/2016   31/12/2016 
Property, plant and equipment and intangible 
assets (81.912,16) (15.659,95) (2.829,46) (100.401,57) 

 (81.912,16) (15.659,95) (2.829,46) (100.401,57) 

 

COMPANY 
Deferred tax liabilities  

(Charged)/credite
d to the income 

statement 

(Charged)/cre
dited to other 
comprehensiv

e income  

 01/01/2015   31/12/2015 

Property, plant and equipment and intangible 
assets (57.902,06) (22.858,52) (1.151,58) (81.912,16) 

 (57.902,06) (22.858,52) (1.151,58) (81.912,16) 

 01/01/2016   31/12/2016 
Property, plant and equipment and intangible 
assets (81.912,16) (15.659,95) (2.829,46) (100.401,57) 

 (81.912,16) (15.659,95) (2.829,46) (100.401,57) 

 
 

 GROUP  COMPANY 
 31/12/2016  31/12/2015  31/12/2016  31/12/2015 

Deferred tax (net) – at beginning of year 951.200,30  1.410.608,80  951.200,30  1.410.608,80 

Deferred tax charged to the income statement (534.289,60)  (460.065,72)  (534.289,60)  (460.065,72) 

Deferred tax charged to Equity (2.829,46)    (2.829,46)   
Deferred tax charged to other comprehensive 
income 15.854,00 

 
657,22 

 
15.854,00 

 
657,22 

Deferred tax (net) – at the end of the year 429.935,24  951.200,30  429.935,24  951.200,30 

 

The tax on the Company's profit before tax, differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using 
the weighted average tax rate applicable to profits as follows: 
 

 GROUP  COMPANY 
 31/12/2016  31/12/2015  31/12/2016  31/12/2015 

Profit before tax 6.170.558,94  5.149.662,40  6.170.558,94  5.149.662,40 

Current corporate tax rate 29%  29%  29%  29% 

Tax calculated at the statutory tax rate (1.789.462,09)  (1.493.402,10)  (1.789.462,09)  (1.493.402,10) 

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes (194.955,99)  (241.556,76)  (194.955,99)  (241.556,76) 
Re-measurement of deferred tax due to 
change in tax rates  

 
164.116,54 

 
 

 
164.116,54 

 (1.984.418,08)  (1.570.842,32)  (1.984.418,08)  (1.570.842,32) 
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5.20 Earnings per share 

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to shareholders for the 
year by the weighted average number of ordinary and preferred shares in issue during the year. 
Earnings per share are analysed as follows: 
 

 31/12/2016  31/12/2015 

Net profit attributable to shareholders 4.186.140,86  3.578.820,08 
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue  20.000  20.000 
    
Basic earnings per share 209,3070  178,9410 

 

 

6. Related party transactions 

Related party transactions are presented below: 
 

 GROUP  COMPANY 

 31/12/2016 31/12/2015  31/12/2016 31/12/2015 

Total sales      

Sales of goods 33.337,72 -  33.337,72 - 

Sales of fixed assets      

Sales of services / Other income      

      

Total purchases      

Purchases of goods      

Purchases of fixed assets      
      
Fees to the members of the BoD and key 
management personnel      

Salaries and other short-term benefits  702.885,26 809.633,93  702.885,26 809.633,93 

Other fees and benefits  39.458,54   39.458,54 

      

      

Receivables from related parties 396.044,23   396.044,23 34.482,31 

      

Liabilities to associates 3.000,00   3.000,00  
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7. Commitments and contingent liabilities 

7.1 Contingent liabilities for judicial or arbitration differences 

There are pending judicial or arbitration differences the outcome of which according to Management’s 
estimations, are not expected to have a material impact to the financial position of the Group and the 
Company. 

 

7.2 Commitments from operating leases 

The Company leases buildings and motor vehicles under operating lease agreements which expire on 
various dates. 

The future aggregate minimum lease payments are as follows: 
 

 
As at 

31/12/2016 
  

As at 
31/12/2015 

Up to 1 year 434.182,33          488.162,21 

From 1 to 5 years 665.759,79  602.627,27 

Over 5 years 33.872,63  363.085,50 

 
 
The operating lease costs (for motor vehicles) recorded in the statement of comprehensive income for 
the period 01/01 - 31/12/2016 amounted to € 372.293,19 (2015: 354.783,44).  

 

7.3 Provisions and other contingent liabilities 
Greek tax regulations and related clauses are subject to interpretation by the tax authorities and 
administrative courts of law. Tax returns are filed annually. With respect to the financial years up to 
and including 2010, the profits or losses declared for tax purposes remain provisional until such time 
as the tax authorities examine the returns and the records of the tax payer and a final assessment is 
issued. From the financial year 2011 and onwards, the tax returns are subject to the audit tax 
certificate process.  Net operating losses which are tax deductible, can be carried forward against 
taxable profits for a period of five years from the year they are generated. 
Under Greek tax regulations, an income tax advance calculation on each year’s current income tax 
liability is paid to the tax authorities. Such advance is then netted off with the following year’s income 
tax liability. Any excess advance amounts are refunded to the companies following a tax examination. 

Audit Tax Certificate  

From the financial year 2011 and onwards, Greek Societe Anonyme and Limited Liability Companies 
that are required to prepare audited statutory financial statements must also obtain an “Annual Tax 
Certificate” as provided by paragraph 5 of Article 82 of L. 2238/1994 and article 65a of L. 4174/2013. 
This “Annual Tax Certificate” must be issued by the same statutory auditor or audit firm that issues the 
audit opinion on the statutory financial statements. Upon completion of the tax audit, the statutory 
auditor or audit firm must issue to the entity a "Tax Compliance Report" which will subsequently be 
submitted electronically to the Ministry of Finance, by the statutory auditor or audit firm. 

For the parent company that is subject to the Tax Certificate process the "Tax Compliance Report" for 
the financial years 2011 to 2015 has been issued and submitted with no substantial adjustments. For 
the parent the tax audit for the year 2016 in accordance with the provisions of article 65a of the Greek 
Tax Code (Law 4174/2013) is in progress and the relevant tax certificate is expected to be granted after 
the publication of the 2016 annual financial statements. If additional tax liabilities arise until the tax 
audit is completed, we estimate that these will not have any material effect on the financial statements. 
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Unaudited tax years 

The parent company has not been audited by the tax authorities for the fiscal year 2010. The subsidiary 
company has not been audited by the tax authorities for the fiscal years 2015 and 2016 (the company 
was incorporated in 2015 and consequently the year ended 31/12/2015 consists its first fiscal year). 
 
 

8. Financial risk management 

8.1 Financial risk factors 

The Group’s activities expose it to financial risk, market risk (including currency risk, price risk and 
interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s risk management policy focuses on the 
unpredictability of the collection of trade receivables and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects 
on the Group’s liquidity and financial performance. The Group and the Company do not use derivative 
financial instruments. 

 

Macroeconomic conditions in Greece 

The macroeconomic and financial environment in Greece is showing signs of stability, however 

uncertainties continue to exist. The capital controls initially imposed in June 2015 continue to be in 

force but have been eased over time. The Group was initially affected as it experienced delays in the 

receipt of customers’ payments and difficulties in its transactions abroad. 

The Group’s operations in Greece continue without any disruption, however the continued instability 

and volatility of the macroeconomic and financial environment in Greece could however have an impact 

on the Group’s and the Company’s business, results of operations, financial condition and prospects.  

Assuming that the capital controls are lifted within a relatively short period and the agreed terms and 

conditions of the third bailout program are implemented, no material negative impact on the Group’s 

operations in Greece is anticipated. In this uncertain economic environment, management continually 

assesses the situation and its possible future impact to ensure that all necessary actions and measures 

are taken in order to minimize any impact on the Group’s operations. 

Management is not able to accurately predict the likely developments in the Greek economy, however 

based on its assessment, management has concluded that no additional impairment provisions are 

required with respect to the Group’s financial and non-financial assets as of December 31 2016. 

Financial Risks  

The below stated risks are significantly affected by the capital controls imposed as well as the 

macroeconomic and financial environment in Greece, as analysed above. 

a) Market risk 

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange and interest rates will 

result in fluctuations of the value of the Group’s financial instruments. The objective of market risk 

management is to manage and control exposure within acceptable levels. 

The individual risks that comprise market risk and the Group’s policies for managing them are described 

below: 

i. Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 

because of changes in the interest rates. The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk is insignificant. The 

Group’s long term-borrowings refer to finance leases with floating rates that expose the Group to cash 

flow interest rate risk which however is considered to be insignificant. 
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ii. Foreign currency risk  

Currency risk is the risk that the fair values of the cash flows of a financial instrument fluctuate due to 

foreign currency changes. The Group mainly operates in Europe and consequently its transactions are 

conducted in Euro. 

iii. Price risk 

The purpose of risk management against market conditions is to control the Group’s exposure to those 

risks, within the framework of acceptable parameters while optimizing results. 

 

b) Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group and the Company if a counterparty fails to meet its 

contractual obligations. The carrying value of financial assets at each reporting date is the maximum 

credit risk to which the Group is exposed in respect of the relevant assets. 

Defaulted payments of trade receivables could potentially adversely affect the liquidity of the Group 

and the Company. However, due to the large number of customers and the diversification of the 

customer base, there is no concentration of credit risk with respect to these receivables. Furthermore, 

the company cooperates with a specialised insurance company to insure its trade receivables. 

The Group applies specific credit policies under which customers are analysed for creditworthiness in 

order to ensure that sales are made to customers with the appropriate credit profile and the proper 

reputation. Management monitors regularly the chronological classification of outstanding receivables. 

c) Liquidity risk  

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group or the Company will not be able to meet their financial 

obligations as they fall due. Liquidity risk is kept at low levels by ensuring that there is sufficient cash 

on demand and / or credit facilities to meet the financial obligations falling due in the next 12 months. 

The Group’s cash and cash equivalents and current assets as at December 31, 2016 amount to Euro 

16.106.871,77 and its bank borrowings amount to Euro 2.263.116,01. 

The analysis of the undiscounted contractual payments (including debt principal and interest payments) 
of the financial liabilities of the Group and the Company is presented below: 

 

GROUP Up to 1 year 2 to 5 years Over 5 years  Total 
31/12/2015     
Borrowings (bank 
borrowings & finance lease 
liabilities) 2.571.539,99 1.251.298,37 703.855,33 4.526.693,69 
Trade and other payables 7.813.619,71 - - 7.813.619,71 
31/12/2016     
Borrowings (bank 
borrowings & finance lease 
liabilities) 1.003.498,21 891.213,30 368.404,51 2.263.116,01 
Trade and other payables 12.065.930,94 - - 12.065.930,94 

 

COMPANY Up to 1 year 2 to 5 years Over 5 years  Total 
31/12/2015     
Borrowings (bank 
borrowings & finance lease 
liabilities) 2.571.539,99 1.251.298,37 703.855,33 4.526.693,69 
Trade and other payables 7.808.785,17 - - 7.808.785,17 
31/12/2016     
Borrowings (bank 
borrowings & finance lease 
liabilities) 1.003.498,21 891.213,30 368.404,51 2.263.116,01 
Trade and other payables 11.999.130,61 - - 11.999.130,61 
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8.2 Capital management 

The primary objective of the Group’s and the Company’s capital management is to ensure that it 
maintains a strong credit rating and healthy capital ratio in order to support its business plans and 
maximize shareholder value. The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments, in light 
of changes in economic conditions. An important mean of managing capital is the use of the gearing 
ratio (ratio of net debt to equity). Net debt includes interest bearing loans less cash and cash 
equivalents. 

The gearing ratio at 31 December 2016 and 2015 was established as follows 
 

 GROUP  COMPANY 
 31/12/2016 31/12/2015  31/12/2016 31/12/2015 
Long-term borrowings 1.259.617,80 1.425.486,00  1.259.617,80 1.425.486,00 

Short-term borrowings 1.003.498,21 2.409.679,30  1.003.498,21 2.409.679,30 

Total borrowings 2.263.116,01 3.835.165,30  2.263.116,01 3.835.165,30 

Less: Cash and cash equivalents (3.217.157,77) (1.110.476,81)  (2.686.318,74) (1.036.602,21) 

Net debt (954.041,76) 2.724.688,49  (423.202,73) 2.798.563,09 

      
Equity 2.973.930,45 740.609,68  3.747.196,22 769.413,56 

Gearing ratio -0,32 3,68  -0,11 3,64 

 
 

8.3 Fair value measurement 

The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and disclosing the fair value of financial 
instruments by valuing technique: 

Level 1: quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 

Level 2: other techniques for which all inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value 
are observable, either directly or indirectly.  

Level 3: techniques which use inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value that are 
not based on observable market data.  

During the year there were no transfers between level 1 and level 2 fair value measurement, and no 
transfers into and out of level 3 fair value measurement.  

The following tables compare the carrying amount of the Group’s and the Company’s financial 
instruments that are carried at amortized cost to their fair value:  

 
GROUP Carrying Amount Fair value 
 2016 2015 2016 2015 

Financial assets     

Trade and other receivables 4.689.709,66 4.118.310,34 4.689.709,66 4.118.310,34 

Cash and cash equivalents 3.217.157,77 1.110.476,81 3.217.157,77 1.110.476,81 

Financial liabilities     

Long-term borrowings 1.259.617,80 1.425.486,00 1.259.617,80 1.425.486,00 

Shor-term borrowings 1.003.498,21 2.409.679,30 1.003.498,21 2.409.679,30 

Trade and other payables 12.065.930,94 7.813.619,71 12.065.930,94 7.813.619,71 

 
COMPANY Carrying Amount Fair value 
 2016 2015 2016 2015 

Financial assets     

Trade and other receivables 5.047.971,61 4.147.986,56 5.047.971,61 4.147.986,56 

Cash and cash equivalents 2.686.318,74 1.036.602,21 2.686.318,74 1.036.602,21 

Financial liabilities     

Long-term borrowings 1.259.617,80 1.425.486,00 1.259.617,80 1.425.486,00 

Shor-term borrowings 1.003.498,21 2.409.679,30 1.003.498,21 2.409.679,30 

Trade and other payables 11.999.130,61 7.808.785,17 11.999.130,61 7.808.785,17 
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The fair value of cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables, and trade accounts payable approximate 
their carrying amounts. 

The fair value of level 3 investment properties and owner occupied properties are measured by 
independent external valuers.  
 

9. Encumbrances 

A mortgage for € 240.000 has been registered on the company’s property as a security against bank 
credit facilities and cheques receivable amounting to € 558.425,88 (2015: € 2.022.361,3) have been 
pledged as security against the Company’s bank debt.. 
 

10. Number of employees 

The number of employees for Company as at 31/12/2016 is 191 and as at 31/12/2015 is 190. The 
number of employees for Frezyderm UK Ltd as at 31/12/2016 is 7 (2015: 0). 
 

11. Events after the reporting date 

In 2017 the subsidiary company FREZYDERM UK LTD increased its share capital by the amount of GBP 
380.000 which was satisfied by the capitalization of equal intercompany balances. 

By virtue of the resolution of the Shareholders Extraordinary Meeting dated 16/1/2017, the Company 
proceeded with the acquisition of property on 73-75 Menandrou Str. for a consideration of € 155.000. 

There are no other subsequent events, beyond the above stated, concerning the Group or the Company 
and for which a disclosure is required according to International Financial Reporting Standards. 
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